Crop & Food Research Confidential Report No. 1414

Improved pea production for sustainable arable farming: MAF SFF project first annual report

S Vilijanen-Rollinson, R Falloon, A Russell, D Wilson, D Martin, V Marroni, M Riddle, R Butler, A McLachlan & E Meenken

July 2005

A report prepared for Pea Industry Development Group and the MAF Sustainable Farming Fund

Copy 1 of 15

© 2005 New Zealand Institute for Crop & Food Research Limited

Contents

1	Exe	ecutive summary	1
	1.1	Project aims	1
	1.2	Trial #1 (field peas)	1
	1.3	Trial #2 (processing peas)	1
	1.4	Trial features	2
	1.5	Conclusions	2
	1.6	Key summary points from the first year	2
2	Inti	roduction	3
3	Aso info	cochyta blight of peas – review of published ormation relevant to this project	4
	3.1	Ascochyta blight – the disease	4
	3.2	Epidemiology	4
	3.3	Inoculation techniques and establishment of epidemics	6
	3.4	Disease assessment	6
	3.5	Effects of Ascochyta blight on yield components	7
	3.6	Modelling of disease epidemics	7
4	Fie Sol	ld trial 1 (property of Mr Rob McIlraith, St Andrews, uth Canterbury)	9
	4.1	Trial design	9
	4.2	Crop management	10
	4.3	Measurements	10
	4.4	Statistical analyses 4.4.1 Soil moisture 4.4.2 Ascochyta 4.4.3 Downy mildew 4.4.4 Numbers of nodes and dead nodes 4.4.5 Grain yields	12 12 13 13 13 13
	4.5	 Results and discussion 4.5.1 Soil moisture deficit 4.5.2 Ascochyta scores 4.5.3 Downy mildew 4.5.4 Presence/absence of downy mildew 4.5.5 Number of nodes per plant 4.5.6 Percentage of nodes with dead leaves 4.5.7 Grain yields 4.5.8 Infection of seed with Ascochyta 4.5.9 St Andrews weather data 	14 16 20 22 23 23 26 30 30
	4.6	Summary of Trial 1 (property of Mr Rob McIlraith, St Andrews, South Canterbury)	32

5	Tria	al 2 (property of Mr Bruce Garrett, Ladbrooks)	33
	5.1	Treatments	33
	5.2	Field layout	33
	5.3	Crop management	34
	5.4	Measurements	36
	5.5	Statistical analyses	38
	5.6	Results5.6.1Soil moisture deficit5.6.2Ascochyta blight5.6.3Downy mildew5.6.4Number of nodes, percentage of dead nodes5.6.5Growth stage5.6.6Vining yields5.6.7Grain yields5.6.8Crop reflectance5.6.9Ladbrooks weather data	40 40 43 44 46 48 50 50 51 52
	5.7	Summary of trial 2 (property of Mr Bruce Garrett, Ladbrooks)	54
6	Key	v summary points from the first year	55
7	Ack	knowledgements	56
8	Bib	liography	57
Ap	pendi	x /	65
Ap	pendi	x	66
Ap	pendi	x III	67
Ap	pendi.	x IV	68
Ap	pendi.	x V	69
Ap	pendi.	x VI	70
Ap	pendi	x VII	71

1 Executive summary

1.1 Project aims

This project, which aims to highlight practical methods for improving productivity of pea crops, proceeded during the 2004-05 growing season (year 1 of 3). Information relevant to the project was first reviewed and then two field trials were established, monitored and harvested. This report outlines the results obtained in the project to 30 June 2005.

1.2 Trial #1 (field peas)

Trial #1 (field peas) was at the property of Mr Rob McIlraith, St Andrews, South Canterbury. Seed of cv. Midichi was sown into trial plots, and treatments of irrigation (without or with), cultivation (without or with deep ripping), and fungicide applications (without or with; see below) were applied in the trial. Disease and crop growth were monitored throughout the season. Seed was harvested at crop maturity.

The fungicide treatment reduced disease in the plots. Mean Ascochyta blight scores for plants in the fungicide-treated plots were 68% less on plant stems and 55% less on pods than in plants in the untreated plots. The irrigation and the deep ripping treatments only had a slight effect on Ascochyta scores and at times interacted with the fungicide treatments. Mean grain yield from fungicide-treated plots (4.55 tonne/ha) was 76% greater than that from the untreated plots (2.58 tonne/ha), an effect due to increases in numbers of pods/plant, numbers of peas/pod and seed weight. Seed harvested from plots had an approx. 5% incidence of fungi likely to cause Ascochyta blight on average. Trial treatments had little effect on levels of infection on the seed.

1.3 Trial #2 (processing peas)

Trial #2 (processing peas) was at the property of Mr Bruce Garrett, Ladbrooks, Canterbury. Seed of cv. Durango was sown into trial plots, and treatments of sowing date (October or November), inoculation (without or with the main fungus causing Ascochyta blight), and fungicide applications (without or with; see below) were applied in the trial. Disease and crop growth parameters were monitored throughout the season. Vining yields and dry seed yields were assessed.

Vining yield from the October sowing was 12 tonne/ha, 33% more than from the November sowing (9 tonne/ha). Plants from the November sowing had more severe Ascochyta blight on stems (+42%) and pods (+260%), than plants from the October sowing. Inoculation of plots increased Ascochyta

Improved pea production for sustainable arable farming; MAF SFF project

⁻ first annual report

S Viljanen-Rollinson, R Falloon, A Russell, D Wilson, D Martin, V Marroni, M Riddle, R

Butler, A McLachlan & E Meenken, July 2005

Crop & Food Research Confidential Report No. 1414

New Zealand Institute for Crop & Food Research Limited

blight scores on plant stems (+46%) and pods (+230%) relative to the uninoculated plots. Mean Ascochyta blight scores for plants in the fungicide-treated plots were 46% lower on plant stems and 78% lower on pods than for plants from untreated plots. Mean grain yield from fungicide-treated plots (5.77 tonne/ha) was 21% more than that from the untreated plots (4.75 tonne/ha), an effect due to increases in numbers of pods/plant and seed weight.

1.4 Trial features

The 'fungicide' treatment applied in both trials was designed to test the potential to control all potential foliar diseases, rather than to provide a basis for formulating a disease management regime for Ascochyta blight in processing and field pea crops. The treatment consisted of a total of six applications at approx. 2-week intervals from the 3 node stage of crop growth. At each application, three to five active ingredients were sprayed on the treated plots. The total cost of this 'treatment' in each trial was equivalent to over \$1100/ha.

At both field trial sites, December rainfall was more than twice that of a long term average. Similarly, both mean minimum and maximum and mean average temperatures for December at both sites were lower than long-term averages.

1.5 Conclusions

These trials were carried out during an unusually damp and cool growing season, where rainfall was high and the crops were never under water stress. The environmental conditions throughout most of the season were very conducive to disease development, particularly for Ascochyta blight and downy mildew. Nevertheless, the trials have demonstrated that where disease is severe, considerable improvements in pea grain yields can be achieved where diseases are controlled using fungicides.

Future research in this project will assess appropriate strategies for managing soil moisture to optimise pea production. As well, the feasibility of developing disease prediction systems for peas will be examined, and the efficacy of fungicide applications for managing pea diseases will be tested.

1.6 Key summary points from the first year

- During the 2004/05 growing season, rainfall in December was more than twice the long-term average at both trial sites used in this study. Similarly, minimum and maximum temperatures were lower than longterm means. Incidence and severity of downy mildew and Ascochyta blight were high during this growing season. It is possible that the high rainfall and low temperatures during the first half of the growing season were conducive to the development of these diseases.
- Treatment with fungicide had by far the greatest effect on the severity of Ascochyta blight and downy mildew, the two predominant diseases found in the two field trials. The fungicide regime used was an experimental tool aiming to reduce foliar diseases of peas, but not designed as a

practical or economic pea crop management method. Nevertheless, the treatments resulted in a 76% grain yield increase for field peas, and a 21% seed yield increase for vining peas. This strongly suggests that adequate control of foliar diseases can benefit pea crop productivity.

- Irrigation and ripping only had a slight effect on Ascochyta scores, and at times, these factors interacted with fungicide treatments. Ascochyta blight was sometimes more severe when either ripping or irrigation were used than when neither or both were used.
- Future research in this project should aim to confirm and quantify relationships between weather and disease, develop practical disease control strategies and continue to examine effects of water availability. In growing seasons where rainfall is closer to average and pea crops are probably under moisture stress, methods of improving root development and water uptake are more likely to affect pea yields.

Introduction

Pea crops are important in arable production systems because they can provide useful cash returns as processing or grain/seed crops. Furthermore, peas can be effective break crops in cereal rotations, helping to improve soil fertility (nutrients and structure) and disease control in cereal-based cropping systems. However, total yields from pea crops have been decreasing in recent years despite small increases in areas being sown by arable farmers.

After extensive consultation with growers, processing and seed companies, and research providers involved in the pea industry over the many factors that may affect pea yields, a consensus developed suggesting that combinations of biotic and abiotic stresses are likely to be responsible for depressed yields in pea crops. Foliar diseases, particularly Ascochyta blight, and water availability were considered the factors most likely to be involved. A project was therefore developed to measure the effects of these factors on the productivity of pea crops, and to develop improved methods for managing disease and water stress.

The overall aim of the present project was to measure the individual impacts of abiotic and biotic stresses on pea crop productivity, and synergies amongst them. The project has a desired outcome of providing a tool for arable farmers that will allow them to predict the onset of biotic and abiotic stresses, forecast their likely effects and make management decisions that will optimise pea crop performance. The present report outlines progress in the first year of this 3-year project.

The report begins with a literature review of Ascochyta blight on peas. Two field trials, carried out on commercial farms during the 2004-05 growing season, are then described, and the extensive data sets from these are presented and discussed.

2

3 Ascochyta blight of peas – review of published information relevant to this project

3.1 Ascochyta blight – the disease

Ascochyta blight of peas is caused by a combination of three pathogenic fungi. These are:

- Mycosphaerella pinodes (Berk. & Blox.) Vestergr., the perfect stage of Ascochyta pinodes, which causes Ascochyta blight;
- Phoma medicaginis var. pinodella (L.K. Jones) Boerema, also known as Ascochyta pinodella, which causes Ascochyta foot rot; and
- Ascochyta pisi Lib., which causes leaf and pod spot.

The three fungi often occur together and can be difficult to distinguish due to isolate variation. The main species that occurs in New Zealand is M. pinoides. This fungus causes symptoms of dark irregular spots on leaves and stems. The spots may grow together to form larger lesions. In severe infections the leaves may dry up, but remain attached to affected plants. Most lesions are found on the lower leaves and stems, which are closer to the stubble-borne inoculum on the soil surface. Stem lesions usually are first found at the points of leaf attachment and are brown to purple. In severe cases whole stems may be covered with lesions. The lesions may also be found on the flower stalks before flowering ceases, and their occurrence is followed by blossom drop. Lesions form on pods and the fungus can also infect the seeds. Seeds in older pods are most susceptible to damage. Infected seed may appear normal, or may be shrunken and discoloured. Lesions caused by Ascochyta foot rot are commonly more concentrated at the base of affected stems, and near the point where the cotyledons are attached. With Ascochyta foot rot, a blackening of plant taproots and stem bases may occur. Early season infection leads to weathering of stem bases and collapse of plants as the first pods fill, resulting in premature lodging and further yield and quality reductions.

Ascochyta blight has been shown to affect yield by decreasing the numbers of seeds and individual seed weight (Tivoli et al. 1996; Xue et al. 1997, 1998; Garry et al. 1998). It has also been shown to affect leaf and plant photosynthetic activity (Garry et al. 1998) and radiation use efficiency (Lucas et al. 1998; Beasse et al. 2000). According to studies in Canada (Hnatowich 2000), for every 10% of infected stem area about 5-6% yield loss can be expected. If 10-15% of the pod area is covered with lesions, then 5-10% of the seeds are likely to become infected.

3.2 Epidemiology

Mycosphaerella pinoides reproduces sexually by pseudothecia, which release wind-dispersed ascospores, and asexually (*Ascochyta pinodes*) by pycnidia, which contain conidia that are splash-dispersed. Under field

conditions, the main source of primary inoculum is usually ascospores, which are also important in the secondary spread of the disease. Ascochyta blight is also a seedborne disease, but infected plant debris is the primary source of infection in established pea-growing areas. High numbers of spores are released early in the growing season from crop residues, and ascospores are released in high numbers from senescent parts of infected plants later in the season. The spores land on plant surfaces, germinate, produce germ tubes, form appressorium-like structures, and then enter the plant through the epidermal walls. Once the fungus penetrates the epidermis, it forms a structure similar to an infection vesicle. From this structure, penetration hyphae are formed that initiate the development of intra- and intercellular hyphae. Following infection, a rapid breakdown of plant tissue occurs. After colonisation of plant tissue, the fungus survives as mycelia, chladymospores and pycnidia on straw fragments and in soil. When temperatures are above freezing and sufficient moisture is available, old pycnidia mature, new pycnidia and pseudothecia develop and their spores are released to infect new pea crops. Seedlings contract infection as they emerge through infected residue, and additional transmission may occur with rain splash of soil onto leaves and stems. Phoma medicaginis var. pinodella also persists in fields by producing chladymospores and pycnidia. This pathogen can survive in the soil for 10 years or more. Ascochyta pisi is a weak saprophyte and overwintering in the field is not important, but seedborne carry over is extremely important. Internal seed infection is rare and most inoculum is carried externally in dust or small straw particles.

Spores of *M. pinoides* germinate over a wide range of temperatures (5-35°C), provided there is adequate moisture. Infection occurs over a similar temperature range. At lower temperatures, longer periods of leaf wetness are required, although lesions are often larger and more numerous in these conditions. Spores can survive interrupted wet periods and retain their ability to infect when favourable moisture conditions resume. Roger et al. (1999) found that spore dispersal was related to rainfall and maturity of fruiting bodies. Conidia were dispersed by rain-splash to a maximum of 30 cm above the soil surface, but greatest numbers were collected at the soil surface. Conidium dispersal occurred shortly after the formation of pycnidia on pea stipules. Maximum numbers of ascospores were trapped from 1 m above the soil surface early in the season, but canopy closure provided a barrier to ascospore dispersal, probably because air circulation was reduced. The severity of Ascochyta blight can vary according to temperature, the concentration of inoculum and the duration of leaf wetness. The most important factor determining whether or not infection occurs is the period of leaf wetness following inoculation, whereas temperature and inoculum concentration are the main factors determining the severity of the disease. Plant injury may also play a minor role in disease infection and spread (Banniza & Vanderberg 2003).

Disease control should aim to reduce or prevent the pathogens from reproducing and the disease from spreading. Crop susceptibility increases with the maturity of plants so crop husbandry practices should aim to reduce premature senescence, for example by using a low sowing density. Crop rotation with a 4-year break between pea crops and removal or burial of infected plant material reduces the amount of inoculum (Hnatowich 2000). In

Canada, seed testing and sowing disease-free seed are recommended because they decrease the risk of spreading *M. pinoides* into new peagrowing areas (Hnatowich 2000). No cultivars are resistant to Ascochyta blight, but some cultivars exhibit higher tolerance than others to the disease.

3.3 Inoculation techniques and establishment of epidemics

Tivoli et al. (1996) produced inoculum by culturing *M. pinoides* on barley grain previously placed in plastic bags, moistened and autoclaved twice at 120° C for 1 h at 24 h intervals. After 3 weeks' incubation at 20° C, infected barley grains (10 g/m²) were spread in the field when plants had 5-6 nodes to simulate a natural homogenous infection. In the uninfested plots, a mixture of flutriafol and chlorothalonil was sprayed on a 14-day schedule, starting at flowering.

Xue & Warkentin (2001) screened 335 pea lines from different countries. They established epidemics by inoculating field plots with 10 g per plot of infected pea straw that was naturally infected with *M. pinodes* in the previous season, air-dried, and cut into 2 cm pieces. Sprinkler irrigation was used on dry days during the growing season to encourage infection.

Wroth & Khan (1999), in Western Australia, inoculated field plots by spreading mechanically mulched diseased pea straw across trial areas planted in April (stubble was applied once only in April to simulate the natural weathering of inoculum as occurs in nature). They used a Burkard spore sampler to monitor the number of spores trapped per hour.

3.4 Disease assessment

Tivoli et al. (1996), in France, assessed disease intensity at the end of June on the reproductive nodes of 10 plants per plot. Disease intensity was assessed on each stipule, internode and pod of each plant using a 0-5 scale (0, no lesion; 1, a few scattered flecks; 2, numerous flecks; 3, 25-50% plant parts covered by small coalesced lesions; 4, 50-75% plant parts covered; 5, 75-100% plant parts covered by extensive coalesced lesions). One week before harvest the height of the stems on 10 plants per plot and the length of stem encircled by lesions were assessed.

Xue & Warkentin (2001) assessed blight severity using a 0-9 scale (Xue et al. 1996). Plants were assessed five times at 10-day intervals starting at inoculation date. Area under the disease progress curve (AUDPC) was calculated for each plot. A total of seven cultivars were assessed for components of partial resistance, including leaf area with symptoms, stem area with symptoms, pod area with symptoms, and percent seed infection.

Wroth & Khan (1999) assessed plants in each plot for disease development on the main stems, and on the leaves attached to the main stems, every second week. They recorded plant height, number of nodes, and phenological development. Disease incidence and severity were measured. Disease incidence on the main stems (% stem infected) was determined as the length of each stem with disease lesions relative to the total length of the stem, measured from the base of the plant. Number of nodes with stem lesions was noted. Disease severity was measured as the proportion of stem completely blackened by lesions and was referred to as stem girdling. In leaves, disease incidence was determined as the proportion of leaves with lesions, whereas disease severity was the proportion of senescent leaves. The proportion (%) of diseased leaf area was assessed using a standards key (Key 32; NIAB 1985).

3.5 Effects of Ascochyta blight on yield components

Tivoli et al. (1996) assessed pea yield components by taking 10 plants per plot at random and determining the number of stems per plant, their height, the number of reproductive nodes, the number of pods, and the number of seeds per pod and per stem. The harvest index (dry weight of seeds/total dry weight) and the biomass of plants were measured after drying samples at 70°C for 24 h. Blight was severe on leaves and on internodes of the basal part of the plants, and pods had few lesions. The disease did not have an effect on the number and length of stems per plant.

3.6 Modelling of disease epidemics

Literature has been searched to identify models or decision support systems that can be used to evaluate the risk of Ascochyta blight development in crops. One such system has been published in the Pulse Production Manual published by the Saskatchewan Pulse Growers, Saskatoon, Canada (Hnatowich 2000).

This system is being developed at Agriculture and Agri-Food Canada (AAFC), Saskatoon Research Centre by Dr Lone Buchwaldt and Dr Bruce Gossen. The system is based on a set of guidelines for identifying situations where foliar fungicide application is most cost-effective. It identifies risk factors that best describe:

- A. plant stand,
- B. number of days with rain in the last 14 days,
- C. 5-day weather forecast, and
- D. amount of disease.

The relative risks associated with each factor that control disease development are shown below. The risk value is then calculated as A+B+C+D. When the risk value is 50 or above, a fungicide application is recommended. If the risk value is less than 50, a fungicide application is not recommended, but a new assessment should be made at 3-5-day intervals until the crop is no longer flowering. If the crop remains almost disease-free until after flowering, fungicide application is generally not cost-effective.

This assessment summarises the relative risk associated with factors that control disease development. However, the decision to apply fungicide is the producer's responsibility and AAFC does not assume any liability regarding its use.

Inspect at least 10 locations in the pea crop at 10% flowering	
A. Plant stand	Risk factor
1. Thin (resulting in high weed pressure and low yield expectation)	0
2. Moderate (resulting in some weeds and a potential low yield)	5
3. Normal (approximately: 88 plants/m ²)	10
4. Dense (more plants than normal or variety with lush growth habit)	15
B. Number of days with rain in the past 14 days	
0 days	0
1-2 days	5
3-4 days	10
5-6 days	15
7 or more days	20
C. The 5-day weather forecast	
1. Dry	0
2. Unpredictable	10
3. Light showers	15
4. Amount of rain	20
D. Amount of Ascochyta blight on pea foliage at first bloom stage	
1. No visible symptoms	0
2. Up to 10% of the leaf area infected on the bottom 1/3 of the plants	5
3. 10 to 20% of the leaf area infected on the bottom $1/3$ of the plants	10
4. 20 to 50% of the leaf area infected on the bottom $1/3$ of the plants	15
5. 20 to 50% of the leaf area infected on the bottom 1/3 of the plants, and up to 20% of the leaf area infected on middle 1/3	30

To our knowledge, this is the only published decision support system for Ascochyta blight. However, Tivoli and co-workers at INRA, Le Rhey, France, have carried out intensive experiments on the epidemiology of *M. pinoides*. For example, they have quantified the effects of the pathogen on yield and on photosynthesis, the role of seed infection in seedling emergence and disease development as well as more fundamental studies on the effects of the environment on the development of the disease. Their group (Beasse et al. 2000) published a pea growth model that was based on the combination of Ascochyta blight progression in the canopy (number of nodes affected by the disease) and the structure of the canopy (leaf area index (LAI) profile).

The calculations for the model included:

- estimation of the contribution of each node to radiation absorption,
- calculation of the reduction in the contribution of each node due to disease,
- using the relationship between the relative decrease in photosynthetic activity of a diseased leaf and its disease score, and
- summing these individual contributions to provide an estimation of the total crop growth.

The model included estimations of decreases in radiation interception efficiency (RIE) and radiation use efficiency (RUE) in the field due to *M. pinodes*. The disease affected crop growth mainly by decreasing RUE, with a slight decrease in RIE. The model comprised the decrease in photosynthesis

rate in the leaves, the vertical gradient of disease intensity and the differences in photosynthetic function of the various layers of the canopy. The decrease in RUE resulted solely from losses in the photosynthetic efficiency in diseased leaves. They recommended that the model could be used for disease management, defining damage thresholds for chemical application and criteria for the selection of tolerant varieties. The model has been further tested and validated in France (Le May et al. 2005) using six commercially grown pea cultivars with different plant architectural features such as stem height, branching ability and standing ability. This model may be useful in further studies of Ascochyta blight in this project.

4 Field trial 1 (property of Mr Rob McIlraith, St Andrews, South Canterbury)

4.1 Trial design

This trial was with the marrowfat pea cultivar Midichi. The trial had eight treatments, consisting of all combinations of two levels of three factors. These factors (and levels) were:

- irrigation (full irrigation and no irrigation): to produce crops with lower and higher yield potential;
- cultivation (with and without deep ripping before planting): To produce crops with lower and higher susceptibility to infection by Ascochyta resulting from contrasting restrictions on the root systems, and different root aeration and drainage;
- fungicide (with and without fungicide applications to control foliar diseases): to produce contrasting levels of disease. A best practice pesticide regime was applied to the treated plots at approx. 2 week intervals, commencing at the three node stage of crop growth. Six fungicide applications (Table 1) were made to the treated plots during crop growth, with the spray application procedures carried out by New Zealand Arable;
- the trial was in 32 plots four replicates of the eight treatments;
- a split-plot design was used with the irrigation treatments as main plots and the other treatments as split-plot treatments;
- each plot consisted of two drill-strips, each 10 m long and 1.2 m (eight rows) wide;
- there was a buffer strip between plots to provide some isolation between treatments with different levels of disease.

4.2 Crop management

- The trial area was marked out on 16 September after preliminary cultivation following grazing of a previous rape crop. The soil was a Templeton silt loam.
- The appropriate plots were ripped to about 350 mm depth. Each plot was ripped with two runs of the ripper, which was 2 m wide.
- After ripping, the whole area received a final surface cultivation before planting.
- The 104 drill-strips were sown on 2 October with Plant Research (NZ) Ltd's seeder.
- Treated seed of the marrowfat pea cultivar Midichi was sown at the equivalent of 456 kg/ha (547 g/strip; mean seed weight = 390 mg; germination = 95%; effective field emergence assumed to be 90%) with the aim of achieving a plant population of 100 per m².
- No fertiliser was applied and, apart from the treatments, the trial was managed as for the surrounding crop.
- Regular fungicide applications at 2-week intervals from the three node crop growth stage began on 1 November (Table 1) to fungicide treated plots.
- The irrigated treatment was watered once, with 12 mm on 17 November.
- Harvest date (dry seed stage) was 25 February 2005.

4.3 Measurements

- Soil moisture content profiles were measured each week by Hydro Services Ltd in all plots. The access tubes were placed at a depth of 1.0 m and as close to the same position in each plot as possible. Readings were taken every week at six different depths, 0-200, 200-300, 300-400, 400-500, 500-600, and 600-800 mm using a CPN 503DR neutron probe. Results were used to schedule irrigations and to determine the effects of the treatments on (a) crop water use during crop growth, (b) patterns of water extraction from the root zone, and (c) timing and severity of water deficit.
- Disease incidence and severity were assessed during vegetative growth (22 November), at first flower (10 December), early in pod-fill (23 December), at pod-fill (18 January) and TR105 (31 January). For each assessment, 10 plants per plot were removed to the laboratory. Ascochyta blight and any other diseases present on the plants were scored using standard disease assessment keys (see Appendices I to V). Individual leaves, stipules, stems and pods were scored at each node for Ascochyta, and each node was scored overall for downy mildew. For Ascochyta was not present at the first two assessment dates and at the third assessment (22 December) there were not yet any pods to score. Downy mildew was present at all assessment dates. Downy mildew was

assessed on 22 November and 7 December 2004 by measuring the severity of the disease on each node on a scale from 0 to 10 using standard disease severity keys (Falloon et al. 1995; Appendix V). On 22 December, downy mildew was assessed as presence or absence on each plant, and on 19 and 31 January, it was assessed as presence or absence or absence on each node of each plant. In some cases, no data were obtained from some plants in a plot due to plant breakage during transport, with a maximum of two plants missing in a plot for the first four assessments and up to seven in the final assessment (these were dead plants).

- Crop growth was measured twice, at first flower and at mid pod-fill growth stages (approx. TR = 105). The first measurement was done on 7 December 2004 and the second on 17 January 2005. Each time, all plants in a 0.5 m² quadrate were removed from each plot and the following parameters were determined: plant populations, biomass, leaf area index, numbers of nodes, first flowering node, numbers of branches, numbers of pods, numbers of peas/pod, pod and pea weights, leaf and stem fresh and dry weights.
- Seed yield was measured at maturity on 23 February 2005, both from 1 m² quadrate samples and on combine harvest samples harvested from the second drill-strip of each plot by Plant Research (NZ) Ltd.
- Ascochyta infection in harvested seed was measured after harvest. Samples from each plot were tested for the presence of *Ascochyta* spp. and related fungi. The methodology used was as recommended by ISTA (International Rules for Seed Testing Effective from 1 January 2002-05 (2002): Detection of *Ascochyta pisi* on *Pisum sativum* (Pea). Fifty seeds were randomly taken from each of the samples and surface sterilised (1% available chlorine as sodium hypochlorite) for 10 min, followed by draining. Ten seeds were placed on each Petri dish containing potato dextrose agar (PDA). Plates were incubated at 20°C and examined for colony growth after 7 days. Treatment means are presented; no statistical analyses of the results was carried out because of the very low incidence of fungi on seeds, and because no trends in the means were detected.
- Weather data were collected from Campbell Scientific CR10X weather station that measured hourly temperature and relative humidity at 1.4 m height, soil temperature (10 cm below soil surface), leaf wetness, rainfall and solar radiation. The weather station was placed in the field site on 24 November and weather data from midnight 25 November was used in this project. Ten-year (1992-2001) monthly averages for Timaru were provided by Robert Zyskowski of Crop & Food Research, Lincoln, to allow comparisons of this season's weather variables with long-term means.

Spray	Date	Product	Rate	Water rate	Weather conditions
1	1 Nov 2004	Sereno	1.5 kg/ha	250 L/ha	Air temp: 16°C
		Carbendazim	0.5 kg/ha		RH: 70%
		Karate Zeon	40 ml/ha		Cloud cover: 100%
					Wind: 5-10 km/h N
					Drying cond.: OK
2	15 Nov 2004	Sereno	1.5 kg/ha	250 L/ha	Air temp: 13°C
		Carbendazim	0.5 kg/ha		RH: 70%
		Karate Zeon	40 ml/ha		Cloud cover: 50%
					Wind: 5-10 km/h SE
					Drying cond.: OK
3	29 Nov 2004	Sereno	1.5 kg/ha	250 L/ha	Air temp: 14°C
		Carbendazim	0.5 kg/ha		RH: 70%
		Karate Zeon	40 ml/ha		Cloud cover: 100%
					Wind: 0-5 km/h SE
					Drying cond.: OK
4	13 Dec 2004	Sereno	1.5 kg/ha	250 L/ha	Air temp: 14°C
		Amistar	0.75 L/ha		RH: 75%
		Folicur	0.44 L/ha		Cloud cover: 100%
		Karate Zeon	40 ml/ha		Wind: 0-5 km/h SW
					Drying cond.: slow
5	23 Dec 2004	Sereno	1.5 kg/ha	250 L/ha	Air temp: 18°C
		Amistar	0.75 L/ha		RH: 65%
		Folicur	0.44 L/ha		Cloud cover: 50%
		Karate Zeon	40 ml/ha		Wind: 5-10 km/h N
					Drying cond.: good

Table 1: Fungicide spray application schedule for Trial 1 (McIlraith property, St Andrews). Products and rates applied, and weather conditions at application are indicated.

4.4 Statistical analyses

4.4.1 Soil moisture

Soil moisture measurements were taken regularly on all plots from 4 November until 17 February. Only soil moisture deficits are explored here. The mean, maximum, and total deficits over dates were calculated for each plot. The plot summaries were analysed with analysis of variance.

4.4.2 Ascochyta

Data from the final three assessments were analysed. There were no pods until the fourth assessment. Average scores were calculated for each assessed plant (averaging over nodes for pods, stipules, leaves and stem scores), and then the average of these per plot was calculated. Average plot scores were also calculated for pod 1 (first pod), pod 2 and stem. Scores for leaves 1 and 2 and stipules 1 and 2 were zero in the majority of cases, so these were not included in the analyses. The plot averages were analysed with analysis of variance separately for each assessment.

4.4.3 Downy mildew

For the first two assessment dates, average scores of downy mildew were calculated for each assessed plant (averaging over nodes), and then the average of these per plot was calculated. These were then analysed with analysis of variance, separately for each assessment. The percentage of plants with disease (incidence of disease) was calculated for each plot. For each of the five assessments, these were analysed with a binomial generalised linear model (McCullagh & Nelder 1989). The effects of fungicide, irrigation and ripping were assessed in the analysis of deviance done as part of this analysis, similarly to analysis of variance. In the table of results, 95% confidence limits are presented with the percent infected plants. These were calculated as part of the analysis.

4.4.4 Numbers of nodes and dead nodes

The number of nodes and the number of dead nodes were calculated using the downy mildew data, for each plant. The mean number of nodes per plant in a plot was then calculated. The percentage of dead nodes per plot was calculated as 100 * (total dead nodes per plot) / (total number of nodes per plot). This gave a plot average weighted by the total number of nodes per plant (which differed little in practice from the mean % dead for each plant for each plot). Mean numbers of nodes were analysed with analysis of variance. The percentage of dead nodes was analysed similarly to the percentage of diseased plants using a binomial generalised linear model. Individual nodes were not assessed at the third assessment.

4.4.5 Grain yields

Plot yields, 100 seed weight, number of plants per m², number of peas per pod and mean pea weight were analysed with analysis of variance. Further analysis of the yield components was carried out (results only partly presented here). The data were analysed initially utilising the split-plot design. However, the variability between the main plots was less that that within the main plots. This may have been due to the irrigation method. A feature of the irrigation treatment was that adjacent plots were not irrigated independently, so the main plots of blocks 1 and 2 were irrigated together, and the main plots of blocks 3 and 4 were irrigated together. This may have affected the variability between and within blocks and plots. For this reason, the trial was treated as a randomised block design and analysed using simple ANOVA. The data had one outlying plot for almost all the variates measured.

Plot 6 was unusual for all parameters, and had a large influence on the analysis. This plot also led the data to appear non-normal and heteroscedastic for several variates. The data from this plot were therefore excluded from the final analysis.

All analyses were carried out with GenStat (GenStat Committee 2005).

4.5 Results and discussion

4.5.1 Soil moisture deficit

Changes in soil moisture deficit over time followed similar patterns for all plots (Fig. 1). Neither ripping nor irrigation affected (P>0.05) the soil moisture deficit (Table 2). However, the maximum deficit was increased when fungicide was applied (from around 59 to 65, P=0.013). The fungicide treatment did not affect the mean or total deficit (P>0.05). Yields were not strongly related to moisture deficit (Fig. 2), with correlations of 0.2, -0.10 and -0.09 between yield and maximum, mean and total moisture deficit respectively. The plots did not reach any significant moisture stress. Although there are no figures for the exact point at which soil moisture deficit causes plant stress, previous research on similar soil has shown that the critical deficit below which there was no further yield increase was 88 mm. The maximum soil moisture deficit for individual plots reached at the St Andrews site was 83 mm with a mean maximum deficit of 69 mm.



Figure 1: Probe moisture measurements over time for each measured plot (-,+ irrigation) at St Andrews.

Fungicide	Irrigation	Ripping	Max	Mean	Total
Nil	Nil	Nil	60.25	27.91	390.67
		With	60.95	28.42	392.25
	With	Nil	56.63	26.86	376.05
		With	56.92	26.86	376.10
With	Nil	Nil	58.65	26.24	367.40
		with	69.43	28.69	401.60
	With	Nil	66.60	28.95	405.32
		With	65.15	28.59	400.27
LSD (<i>P</i> =0.05), for in	rrigation				
Same	df=18		11.50	8.24	119.38
Different			9.91	4.68	68.43
	(df)		(12)	(5)	(5)

Table 2: St Andrews trial, Mean summaries of soil moisture deficit.



Figure 2: Relationship between yield and maximum soil moisture deficit for St Andrews trial.

4.5.2 Ascochyta scores

Ascochyta blight was not present in the first and second disease assessment but was first noted in plots at the third assessment date (23 December). For average plant score, fungicide had the greatest effect at all three assessment dates (P<0.001), with average scores generally lower with fungicide than without (Fig. 3, Table 3). However, the effect of fungicide varied with irrigation (P=0.043), and to a lesser extent with ripping (P=0.087 for the three-way interaction). These interactions were principally because Ascochyta score was not reduced by fungicide neither when irrigation or ripping was applied. At the second assessment, Ascochyta score tended to be greater when either irrigation or ripping was used, but when both were used Ascochyta score was similar to when neither was used (P=0.005 for the irrigation X ripping interaction). At the third assessment, irrigation had no significant effect, but ripping tended to increase Ascochyta score (P=0.021). Over time, Ascochyta score tended to increase on all parts of the plants assessed and analysed, with the odd exception (e.g. for average plant score, 'no irrigation, no ripping with fungicide').

Stem Ascochyta scores (Fig. 3, Table 3) were also most strongly affected by fungicide, with lower scores when fungicide was applied, at all three assessments (P<0.001). At the first assessment, ripping also had an effect on stem Ascochyta score (P=0.016), with scores slightly lower with ripping

(average reduction of 0.8). At the second assessment, the effect of fungicide was modified both by ripping and irrigation (P=0.01 for the three-way interaction). When fungicide was not applied ripping and irrigation had little effect, but when it was applied, Ascochyta scores on the stems were higher if either ripping or irrigation were used. If both were used, however, scores were similar to when neither was used. At the final assessment, neither ripping nor irrigation had statistically significant effects (P>0.2).



Figure 3: Mean plant or stem Ascochyta scores on a scale from 0 to 11 at the St Andrews trial site. Error bars are LSDs (maximum of the two in the table).

			Averag	je plant s	core	Averag	Average stem score		
Irrigation	Ripping	Fungicide	22/12	18/01	31/01	22/12	18/01	31/01	
Nil	Nil	Nil	3.6	4.7	6.7	5.1	9.2	10.3	
		With	3.6	2.2	4.5	3.0	2.5	5.2	
	With	Nil	3.2	5.2	7.6	5.1	9.2	10.4	
		With	2.6	3.2	5.2	1.4	4.3	6.1	
With	Nil	Nil	3.7	5.1	7.2	6.0	9.0	10.1	
		With	2.5	3.6	5.0	1.7	4.6	5.6	
	With	Nil	3.1	4.5	7.2	4.7	9.0	10.2	
		With	2.3	2.2	5.5	1.1	3.2	6.2	
LSD 5%, fo	or means wi	th irrigation							
Same	(df=18)		0.7	1.2	0.8	1.4	1.1	1.3	
Different			0.7	1.5	1.0	1.3	1.1	1.4	
	(df)		(19)	(8)	(11)	(20)	(21)	(17)	

Table 3: Mean Ascochyta scores for each treatment, for plants and stems.

For Ascochyta score on pods, fungicide again had the greatest effect (P<0 001), reducing the disease on pods at both assessments (Fig. 4, Table 4). At the second assessment, disease score on Pods 1 and 2 were also affected by irrigation and ripping (P=0.017 and P=0.002 for the ripping X irrigation interaction for Pods 1 and 2). When either ripping or irrigation were used, Ascochyta tended to be more severe than when neither or both were used. For pod 1, there was some evidence that irrigation and ripping modified the effect of the fungicide treatment (P=0.064 for the 3-way interaction), with negligible effects of ripping and irrigation when fungicide was not used. At the third assessment, Ascochyta score on Pod 1 was increased with ripping, on average by 0.8. There was some evidence that the fungicide effect was modified by ripping (P=0.057 for the fungicide X ripping interaction), with a slightly greater fungicide effect in the absence of ripping. There was evidence (P=0.055) of a similar effect on Pod 2.

Overall, fungicide had the greatest effect on Ascochyta blight severity in this trial. There was less disease on whole plants, stems and pods in fungicide-treated plots than in treated plots. Irrigation and ripping only had a slight effect on Ascochyta scores and, at times, interacted with the fungicide treatments. Ascochyta severity was sometimes more severe when either ripping or irrigation were used than when neither or both were used.

			Po	Pod 1		od 2
Irrigation	Ripping	Fungicide	18/01	31/01	18/01	31/01
Nil	Nil	Nil	6.6	8.5	5.6	8.2
		With	2.0	3.9	1.6	3.9
	With	Nil	6.6	8.7	5.7	8.2
		With	3.0	4.9	2.8	4.5
With	Nil	Nil	6.6	8.5	5.6	8.1
		With	3.0	4.2	2.8	4.1
	With	Nil	6.4	8.7	4.8	7.8
		With	2.2	6.0	1.7	5.5
LSD 5%, fe	or means w	ith irrigation				
Same	(df=18)		0.8	1.2	0.9	1.2
Different			1.0	1.2	1.2	1.3
	(df)		(8)	(20)	(9)	(15)

Table 4: Mean Ascochyta scores for each treatment, for pods.





4.5.3 Downy mildew

Downy mildew severity was analysed for the first two assessment dates. Average plant downy mildew severity scores for these dates were not affected by ripping (P>0.05; Table 5, Fig. 5). At the first assessment, downy mildew severity was reduced by the fungicide (P<0.001), from an average score of 1.2 with no fungicide to 0.75 with fungicide applied. Irrigation had no significant effect (P>0.05) on downy mildew severity. At the second assessment, neither fungicide nor irrigation had a strong effect, but there was some indication that downy mildew severity score was reduced with fungicide applied when irrigation was used (P=0.056 for the irrigation X fungicide interaction).

			Assessment		
Fungicide	Irrigation	Ripping	22/11/04	07/12/04	
Nil	Nil	Nil	1.08	1.93	
		With	1.34	2.06	
	With	Nil	1.13	2.23	
		With	1.22	1.93	
With	Nil	Nil	0.73	1.98	
		With	0.79	2.26	
	With	Nil	0.75	1.64	
		With	0.71	1.79	
LSD 5%, for means with	irrigation				
Same	(df=18)		0.23	0.50	
Different			0.26	0.57	
	(df)		(12)	(13)	

Table 5: Mean downy mildew scores for each treatment.



Figure 5: Mean downy mildew scores per plant. Error bars are LSDs (maximum of the two in the table).

4.5.4 Presence/absence of downy mildew

At the first assessment, downy mildew incidence was not significantly affected by either ripping or irrigation (P>0.05), but was reduced to 93% of plants infected in the fungicide-treated plots, compared with 99% incidence in unsprayed plots (Table 6, Fig. 6). At the second assessment, all plants had some downy mildew infection. At the third assessment, irrigation, ripping and fungicide all had effects, with statistically significant three way interactions (P=0.002 and 0.022 respectively). The percentage of affected plants was generally lower when fungicide was applied. Where no fungicide was applied, fewer plants were affected when both ripping and irrigation were also applied. With fungicide, fewer plants were affected when irrigation was also applied, and the percentage of affected plants was greatest without either ripping or irrigation. By the final assessment, the fungicide effect had largely disappeared (P>0.1) largely due to death of nodes (Fig. 6), but infection levels were still affected by ripping and irrigation (P=0.038 for the irrigation and ripping interaction), with a slightly higher proportion of plants affected when either ripping or irrigation (but not both) were used.

Overall, downy mildew was more severe early in the growing season, with almost every plant having symptoms. Some systemic infection was also noted (data not presented). Plots treated with fungicide had less downy mildew than untreated plots at the first and third assessments, with complex interactions between all treatments at the third assessment.

Table 6: Percentage of plants affected by downy mildew (95% confidence limits).

					Assessment		
Fung.	Irrig	Rip	22/11/04	07/12/04	22/12/04	18/01/05	31/01/05
Nil	Nil	Nil	100.0 (91.2,100)	100 (91.0,100)	70.0 (54.3,82.1)	66.7 (50.7,79.6)	10.0 (3.3,26.8)
		With	100.0 (91.2,100)	100 (91.2,100)	87.5 (73.3,94.7)	70.0 (54.3,82.1)	15.4 (5.9,34.5)
	With	With	97.5 (84.3,99.6)	100 (91.2,100)	80.0 (64.8,89.7)	85.0 (70.4,93.1)	12.5 (4.1,32.4)
		With	100.0 (91.2,100)	100 (91.2,100)	53.8 (38.3,68.6)	62.5 (46.8,76.0)	0.0 (0.0,12.8)
With	Nil	Nil	90.0 (76.2,96.2)	100 (91.2,100)	39.5 (25.4,55.6)	74.4 (58.6,85.6)	2.9 (0.4,17.7)
		With	97.5 (84.3,99.6)	100 (91.2,100)	24.3 (13.2,40.5)	65.0 (49.2,78.1)	8.1 (2.6,22.3)
	With	Nil	92.5 (79.2,97.6)	100 (91.2,100)	7.5 (2.4,20.8)	65.0 (49.2,78.1)	5.4 (1.4,19.2)
		With	95.0 (82.1,98.7)	100 (91.2,100)	12.8 (5.4,27.3)	75.0 (59.5,86.0)	2.9 (0.4,18.1)

4.5.5 Number of nodes per plant

Numbers of nodes per plant were not significantly affected by irrigation or ripping (P>0.05) at any of the four dates where nodes were counted (Table 7). However, node numbers were reduced by fungicide at the second and final assessments (P=0.026 and P<0.001 respectively), by around 0.3 and 1 nodes respectively.

			Assessment				
Fungicide	Irrig.	Rip	22/11/04	07/12/04	18/01/05	31/01/05	
Nil	Nil	Nil	7.1	11.3	22.1	22.5	
		With	7.4	11.1	20.3	21.8	
	With	Nil	7.1	11.2	20.8	22.7	
		With	7.1	11.0	21.4	22.1	
With	Nil	Nil	7.3	10.9	20.7	21.6	
		With	7.2	10.9	21.2	21.3	
	With	Nil	7.2	10.9	20.9	20.9	
		With	7.0	10.9	22.0	21.4	
LSD 5% for me	ans with irrig	ation					
Same	(df=18)		0.4	0.5	1.7	1.1	
Different			0.5	0.5	1.5	1.1	
	(df)		(9)	(17)	(20)	(18)	

Table 7: Mean number of nodes per plant. (Not recorded on 22/12/04).

4.5.6 Percentage of nodes with dead leaves

The percentage of nodes with dead leaves generally increased over time (Table 8, Fig. 6). At the first assessment, there were only a few dead nodes on the plants. Without ripping, there were no dead nodes, but a small percentage (around 1%) of nodes had dead leaves when ripping was used (P=0.01). Similarly, dead nodes were more likely when the fungicide was not applied (P=0.05). At the second assessment, the picture was more complex, with a significant 3-way interaction (P=0.032) between fungicide, ripping and irrigation. There was a generally lower percentage of nodes with dead leaves where fungicide was applied, but the fungicide effect was greater when neither ripping nor irrigation were applied. By the fourth assessment, the major factor affecting nodes with dead leaves was fungicide (P<0.001), with fewer dead nodes (48%) when fungicide was applied than when it was not (64%). Fungicide was still the major factor at the final assessment (P<0.001) with around 78% of nodes with dead leaves with no fungicide compared to 69% where fungicide was applied. However, numbers of nodes with dead leaves were also affected by irrigation and ripping (P=0.031 for the interaction), with fewer dead nodes when neither were applied (around 69%), than when either or both were used (around 74%).

			Assessment					
Fung.	Irrig.	Rip	22/11/04	07/12/04	18/01/05	31/01/05		
Nil	Nil	Nil	0.7 (0.1,3.4)	16.8 (12.5,22.2)	63.3 (59.6,66.9)	77.3 (72.1,81.8)		
		With	0.0 (0.0,1.2)	16.3 (12.0,21.6)	63.3 (59.5,67.0)	78.4 (72.8,83.1)		
	With	Nil	2.1 (0.8,5.3)	14.7 (10.7,19.9)	64.7 (61.0,68.3)	78.1 (72.4,83.0)		
		With	0.4 (0.0,3.4)	17.0 (12.6,22.4)	63.7 (60.0,67.3)	76.9 (71.3,81.6)		
With	Nil	Nil	0.3 (0.0,3.3)	5.7 (3.4,9.7)	46.0 (42.1,49.9)	61.8 (56.4,66.9)		
		With	0.0 (0.0,1.3)	12.1 (8.5,17.1)	46.8 (43.0,50.6)	71.4 (66.4,76.0)		
	With	Nil	0.3 (0.0,3.3)	12.2 (8.5,17.2)	52.3 (48.4,56.1)	73.0 (68.0,77.5)		
		With	0.0 (0.0,1.3)	10.1 (6.8,14.8)	45.4 (41.7,49.2)	70.3 (65.0,75.1)		

Table 8: Percentage of nodes that were dead (95% confidence limits). (Not recorded on 22/12/04).



Figure 6: Percentage of infected plants, and percentage of nodes per plant with dead leaves (see table for confidence limits).

4.5.7 Grain yields

Yield of harvested grain (Table 9) was not significantly affected (P>0.05) by either the irrigation or the deep ripping cultivation treatments. The fungicide applications resulted in a 76% increase in grain yield, through increased 100 seed weight, mean numbers of pods/plant and peas/pod.

Table 9: Mean plot harvested seed yields and yield components for different treatments applied to plots of Midichi peas in Trial 1.

Treatment	Plot yield (tonne/ha)	100 seed weight (g)	Number of plants/m ²	Number of pods/plant	Number of peas/pod	Mean pea wgt (mg)
Irrigation						
Nil	3.78	33.0	56.1	8.7	5.4	266
With	3.35	32.6	62.4	9.3	5.5	266
LSD(P=0.05)	0.63	2.1	7.1	1.7	0.5	28
Cultivation						
Nil	3.57	32.6	58.0	8.9	5.6	268
Deep ripped	3.57	33.0	60.5	9.2	5.4	264
LSD(<i>P</i> =0.05)	0.38	1.2	7.6	1.1	0.4	11
Fungicide	(+76%)	(+7%)		(+14%)	(+12%)	
Nil	2.58	31.7	58.5	8.4	5.2	262
With	4.55	33.9	60.0	9.6	5.8	270
LSD(<i>P</i> =0.05)	0.38	1.2	7.62	1.1	0.4	11

Further analysis of yield components showed that, in general, only spraying with fungicide had an effect on yield component parameters (Table 10). Treatment with fungicide increased yield. The difference between spraying and not spraying for each parameter is shown in Table 11. In some cases ripping also had an effect, resulting in an increase in yield. The effect of fungicide was always greater than the effect of ripping. For the parameter total peas per m^2 , in addition to the main effects of ripping and fungicide, there was an interaction between the two factors (Fig. 7). There was also an interaction, but no main effects, between ripping and fungicide for mean aborted peas per pod (Fig. 8).

Not significant	Fungicide	Fungicide + irrigation	Fungicide + irrigation + interaction	Deep ripping * Spray
Pod number	Total plant fresh weight	Bulk pea fresh weight	Total peas per m ²	Mean number of aborted peas per pod
Remainder fresh weight	Sub-sample fresh weight	Pea number_1		
Remainder dry weight	Pod fresh weight	Total pods per m ²		
Total grain weight	Aborted pea number	Live pod number per m ²		
Total grain weight_1	Pea number			
Total pods per plant	Pea fresh weight			
Pea dry matter %	Dead pod number			
	Dead pod fresh weight			
	Pea dry weight			
	Dead pod dry weight			
	Bulk fresh weight			
	Split pea number			
	Split pea fresh weight			
	Dead pod number per m ²			
	Total live peas per m ²			
	Mean no of peas per pod			
	Mean no live peas per pod			
	Pea yield per pod			
	Pea dry weight per pod			
	Pea yield fresh			
	Pea yield dry			
	Fresh weight per pea			
	Dry weight per pea			
	Pea fresh weight per ha			
	Pea dry weight per ha			

Table 10: Important treatment effects on yield component parameters.

	Total plant	Cubaamala		Ded freeh	Abortod poo	
Spray	weight	fresh weight	Pod number	weight	number	Pea number
With	478.60	175.07	104.56	107.10	205.05	295.09
Nil	353.49	135.42	92.94	68.78	142.44	197.69
Spray	Pea fresh weight	Dead pod number	Dead pod fresh weight	Remainder fresh weight	Pea dry weight	Remainder dry weight
With	86.53	18.05	2.66	85.13	79.37	79.42
Nil	53.74	25.94	4.20	76.27	49.13	71.30
Spray	Dead pod dry weight	Bulk fresh weight	Bulk pea fresh weight	Pea number_1	Total grain weight	Split pea number
With	2.47	303.53	136.52	499.66	271.54	26.08
Nil	3.89	218.07	86.08	328.13	261.76	16.81
Spray	Split pea fresh weight	Total pods per m ²	Live pod number per m ²	Dead pod number per m ²	Total peas per m ²	Total live peas per m ²
With	3.17	572.43	472.98	99.45	2723.53	1614.14
Nil	2.10	487.03	351.39	135.65	1777.62	1031.56
Spray	Mean number of peas per pod	Mean live peas per pod	Mean no aborted peas per pod	Total grain weight_1	Total no pods per plant	Pea yield per pod
With	5.75	3.40	2.34	271.54	9.81	0.82
Nil	5.18	3.01	2.17	261.76	8.82	0.58
Spray	Pea dry weight per pod	Pea fresh yield	Pea dry yield	Pea dry matter %	Fresh weight per pea	Dry weight per pea
With	0.75	446.10	408.87	91.68	0.29	0.27
Nil	0.53	279.64	255.76	91.44	0.27	0.25
Spray	Pea fresh weight per ha	Pea dry weight per ha				
With	4.46	4.09				
Nil	2.80	2.56				

Table 11: Fungicide main effect means.



Figure 7: Irrigation X fungicide interaction.



Figure 8: Cultivation X fungicide interaction.

4.5.8 Infection of seed with Ascochyta

The overall mean percentage of seed infected with fungi likely to cause Ascochyta blight was 5.2%. There were no obvious treatment effects on the incidence of these fungi, but statistical analysis on these data has not yet been completed.

4.5.9 St Andrews weather data

Weather data were received from the weather station located near the trial site from 25 November onwards (this is the day after the weather station was placed in the field). The total rainfall for the month of December at the trial site was 124 mm, more than twice the long-term average for Timaru (Table 12). Rainfall for January was slightly less at the trial site than the longterm average, but February rainfall was considerable more than the long-term average. This was mainly due to a large amount of rainfall during 11-14 February, with 124 mm falling on 14 February (Fig. 9). Both mean minimum and maximum temperatures for the month of December were less than the long-term averages, but January and February means were similar to longterm averages (Fig. 9). Mean daily leaf wetness and the number of hours per day when leaf wetness was more than 50% (leaf wetness more than 50% is considered 'wet' are also graphed (Fig. 9). Rainfall and leaf wetness are the key variables in the epidemiology of *M. pinoides* as they facilitate dispersal, germination, infection and subsequent disease spread during the growing season. It appears that rainfall early in the growing season is very important as it spreads the conidia within the crop. It is therefore important to collect weather data from emergence so that weather conditions in relation to disease spread can be quantified. Canopy closure later in the season provides a barrier for ascospore spread in the canopy (Roger et al. 1999). This season, from 25 November until 17 January, there were 22 rainy days out of 56 days. This, together with high frequency of leaf wetness, provided good conditions for disease spread. However, more data on weather and Ascochyta blight severity over several locations and years are required before accurate disease predictions can be determined.

Table 12: Ten-year (1992-2001) monthly averages for Timaru (data provided by Robert Zyskowski) and actual data for the trial site (in parenthesis).

Month	Mean min temp. (°C)	Mean max temp. (°C)	Total monthly rainfall (mm)
October	4.9	16.3	49.7
November	5.9	17.4	54.4
December	8.6 (7.5)	19.7 (15.9)	54.9 (124)
January	10.0 (10.9)	20.7 (19.6)	47.4 (39)
February	10.1 (12.7)	21.0 (21.0)	38.5 (170)



Figure 9: Weather summary obtained from the weather station at the St Andrews trial site.

4.6 Summary of Trial 1 (property of Mr Rob McIlraith, St Andrews, South Canterbury)

The plots in this trial never reached any significant moisture stress levels. The mean maximum soil moisture deficit was 69 mm. Previous research has shown that critical soil moisture deficit causing plant stress is 88 mm. The weather data collected from the trial site showed that in December it rained more than twice as much (124 mm) as the average 10-year rainfall for Timaru (55 mm); both mean minimum and maximum temperatures were less than long the long-term averages.

Overall, fungicide had the greatest effect on Ascochyta blight severity in this trial. There was less disease on whole plants, stems and pods in fungicide-treated plots than in untreated plots. Irrigation and ripping only had a slight effect on Ascochyta scores and, at times, interacted with the fungicide treatments. Ascochyta severity was sometimes more severe when either ripping or irrigation were used than when neither or both were used.

Overall, downy mildew was more severe early in the growing season, with almost every plant having symptoms. Some systemic infection was also noted. Plots treated with fungicide had less downy mildew than untreated plots. The fungicide treatment decreased the number of dead leaves on plants.

The fungicide applications resulted in a 76% increase in seed yield, through increased mean numbers of pods/plant and peas/pod. Further analysis of yield components showed that, in general, only spraying with fungicide had an effect on further yield component parameters. In some cases ripping also had an effect, also resulting in an increase in yield, but the effect of fungicide was always greater than the effect of ripping.

Weather conditions this season appeared conducive to the spread of Ascochyta blight. Weather data for early in the season were not available due to late arrival of the weather station equipment. Data were collected from 25 November onwards and showed that rainfall in December was more than twice as much as long-term average for Timaru. December was also cooler than the long-term average. There were 22 rainy days from 25 November until 19 January, with more than 12 hours of high (more than 50%) leaf wetness, providing ideal conditions for the spread of *M. pinoides*.
5 Trial 2 (property of Mr Bruce Garrett, Ladbrooks)

5.1 Treatments

This trial was with the processing pea cultivar Durango. The trial had eight treatments, consisting of all combinations of two levels of each of three factors:

- sowing date (9 October or 2 November 2004): to expose crops to different weather conditions and thereby produce higher and lower yields and differing risk of Ascochyta infection;
- inoculation (with and without inoculation with *Mycosphaerella pinoides*): to produce crops with higher and lower levels of Ascochyta infection. Four different isolates of *M. pinoides* were used: one isolate was from the seed used in the trial, the other three were from the Crop & Food Research mycology culture collection. These three isolates were collected from a Winton, Southland, Ascochyta nursery in 2000, 2001, and 2002. The techniques followed for inoculum preparation and inoculation were based on the methodology outlined in Tivoli et al. (1996). This involved culturing the fungus on barley grain previously placed in plastic autoclave bags or glass containers, moistened and autoclaved twice at 121°C for 1 h at 24 h intervals. Treated plots were inoculated by applying the infected grain (300 g/ plot) on 23 November and 8 December 2004;
- fungicide (with and without fungicide applications to control foliar diseases): to produce contrasting levels of the disease. A best practice pesticide regime was applied to the treated plots at approx 2-week intervals by NZ Arable, commencing at the three node stage of crop growth in each of the two sowing date treatments. Six fungicide applications were made to the treated plots during crop growth.

5.2 Field layout

32 plots – four replicates of the eight treatments.

- The trial was laid out as a Latinised row and column design, such that there was a whole replicate of the treatments in each row of plots and also a replicate in each set of four rows by two columns of plots. However, only the major blocking (row replicates) was taken into account in the statistical analyses of data (treating the layout as a randomised block design).
- Each plot consisted of two drill-strips, each 10 m long and 1.2 m (eight rows) wide.
- There was a buffer strip on both sides of each plot to keep different sowing dates separate and to provide some isolation between treatments with different levels of disease.

 A weather station (Campbell Scientific CR10X) was placed next to the trial and the following weather data were collected hourly: temperature and relative humidity at 1.4 m height, soil temperature (10 cm below soil surface), leaf wetness, rainfall and solar radiation.

5.3 Crop management

- The paddock was tested to ensure a low risk of Aphanomyces infection.
 The soil at the trial site was a Wakanui silt loam.
- The site was ploughed from long-term pasture about 2 weeks before sowing, and cultivated to produce a good seed bed.
- The first sowing was planted on 9 October and the second on 2 November. The 128 drill-strips were sown by Plant Research (NZ) Ltd's seeder.
- Treated seed of the processing cultivar Durango was sown at 235 kg/ha (282 g/strip; mean seed weight = 194 mg; germination = 90%; effective field emergence assumed to be 95%) with the aim of achieving a population of about 100 plants/m².
- A seed test was carried out on 100 randomly chosen seeds. Seeds were surface sterilised for 10 min using a solution of 1% sodium hypochlorite, rinsed in sterile water and left to dry on filter paper. They were plated in Petri dishes containing PDA and incubated at room temperature for 9 days. Percentage germination of seed and infection by fungi were recorded. Germination was 100% and infection with *Ascochyta pisi* or *Mycosphaerella* was 1%.
- No fertiliser was applied and, apart from the treatments, the trial was managed as the surrounding crop. The trial could have been irrigated if necessary, but no irrigation was applied during the trial period.
- Regular fungicide applications started on 5 and 19 November on the first and second sowings respectively (Tables 13A and B).
- Inoculum was produced in bulk in the laboratory on autoclaved barley grain. It was applied to treated plots (300 g per plot) on 23 November and 8 December.

Table 13A: Fungicide spray application schedule for the first sowing (9 October 2004) of Trial 2 (Garrett property, Ladbrooks). Products and rates applied, and weather conditions at application are indicated.

Spray	Date	Product	Rate	Water rate	Weather conditions
1	5 Nov 2004	Sereno	1.5 kg/ha	250 L/ha	Air temp: 15°C
		Carbendazim	0.5 kg/ha		RH: 65%
		Karate Zeon	40 ml/ha		Cloud cover: 100%
					Wind: 0 km/h N
					Drying cond.: OK
2	19 Nov 2004	Sereno	1.5 kg/ha	250 L/ha	Air temp: 18°C
		Carbendazim	0.5 kg/ha		RH: 65%
		Karate Zeon	40 ml/ha		Cloud cover: 25%
					Wind: 5-10 km/h NW
					Drying cond.: fast
3	3 Dec 2004	Sereno	1.5 kg/ha	250 L/ha	Air temp: 19°C
		Carbendazim	0.5 kg/ha		RH: 65%
		Karate Zeon	40 ml/ha		Cloud cover: 10%
					Wind: 5-10 km/h NE
					Drying cond.: fast
4	17 Dec 2004	Sereno	1.5 kg/ha	250 L/ha	Air temp: 15°C
		Amistar	0.75 L/ha		RH: 70%
		Folicur	0.44 L/ha		Cloud cover: 75%
		Karate Zeon	40 ml/ha		Wind: 5 km/h N
					Drying cond.: good
5	29 Dec 2004	Sereno	1.5 kg/ha	250 L/ha	Air temp: 19°C
		Amistar	0.75 L/ha		RH: 60%
		Folicur	0.44 L/ha		Cloud cover: 25%
		Karate Zeon	40 ml/ha		Wind: 5-10 km/h NW
					Drying cond.: fast

Table 13B: Fungicide spray application schedule for the second sowing (2 November 2004) of Trial 2 (Garrett property, Ladbrooks). Products and rates applied, and weather conditions at application are indicated.

Spray	Date	Product	Rate	Water rate	Weather conditions
1	19 Nov 2004	Sereno	1.5 kg/ha	250 L/ha	Air temp: 18°C
		Carbendazim	0.5 kg/ha		RH: 65%
		Karate Zeon	40 ml/ha		Cloud cover: 25%
					Wind: 5-10 km/h NW
					Drying cond .: fast
2	3 Dec 2004	Sereno	1.5 kg/ha	250 L/ha	Air temp: 19°C
		Carbendazim	0.5 kg/ha		RH: 65%
		Karate Zeon	40 ml/ha		Cloud cover: 10%
					Wind: 5-10 km/h NE
					Drying cond .: fast
3	17 Dec 2004	Sereno	1.5 kg/ha	250 L/ha	Air temp: 15°C
		Carbendazim	0.5 kg/ha		RH: 70%
		Karate Zeon	40 ml/ha		Cloud cover: 75%
					Wind: 5 km/h N
					Drying cond.: good
4	29 Dec 2004	Sereno	1.5 kg/ha	250 L/ha	Air temp: 19°C
		Amistar	0.75 L/ha		RH: 60%
		Folicur	0.44 L/ha		Cloud cover: 25%
		Karate Zeon	40 ml/ha		Wind: 5-10 km/h NW
					Drying cond .: fast

5.4 Measurements

- Soil moisture content profiles were measured each week by Hydro Services in all plots of two treatments: no inoculum/with fungicide and with inoculum/without fungicide (these treatments were expected to be the highest and lowest yielding treatments for both sowing dates). The neutron tube access tubes were placed to a depth of 1.0 m and readings were taken every week at six different depths: 0-200, 200-300, 300-400, 400-500, 500-600, and 600-800 mm using a CPN 503DR neutron probe. Results were used to schedule irrigations and to determine the effects of the treatments on (a) crop water use, (b) patterns of water extraction from the root zone, and (c) timing and severity of water deficit.
- Disease incidence and severity were assessed during vegetative growth and during pod-fill. Plants were harvested from plots and assessed in the laboratory for Ascochyta blight and downy mildew severity (see Appendices I to V). Stems, individual leaves, stipules, and pods were

scored at each node for Ascochyta, and leaf and stipule tissues at each node were given an overall score for downy mildew. Nodes with dead leaves were scored as dead. The first full assessment was carried out on 24 November (46 days after sowing) for the October sowing, and on 29 December (57 days after sowing) for the November sowing. At this assessment, each node of 10 plants per plot was scored. Every plot was assessed. An intermediate assessment was carried out on 8 December 2004. At this assessment, all four plots from replicate 4 that were inoculated with Mycosphaerella were assessed. Ten plants per plot were scored, as for the first full assessment. A second intermediate assessment was carried out on 19 January 2005. At this assessment, two plots from the first sowing were scored for Ascochyta severity. A second full Ascochyta assessment was carried out on 7 January (90 days after sowing) for the October sowing and on 22 January (81 days after sowing) for the November sowing. Downy mildew was assessed as present or absent. In some cases, no data were obtained from some plants in a plot because of plant breakage during transport, with a maximum of 2 plants missing in a plot.

- Crop growth stages were assessed for 10 plants randomly selected from the guard rows of one replicate, for one October- and one November-sown plot. Different plots were used at each assessment, with assessments done approximately weekly from 11 November 2004. Vegetative and reproductive stages (Knott 1987) were recorded.
- Crop growth was measured twice, at first flower and at mid pod-fill growth stages in each sowing (about TR = 105). The two measurements on the first sowing date plots were done on 2 December and 7 January, and on the second sowing date plots on 30 December and 31 January. Each time, all plants in a 0.5 m² quadrate were removed from each plot and growth characteristics (plant populations, biomass, leaf area index, numbers of nodes, first flowering node, numbers of branches, numbers of pods, numbers of peas/pod, pod and pea weights, leaf and stem fresh and dry weights) were measured.

Yield was measured at two stages for each sowing:

- Process pea yield was measured at about TR = 105. A 2 m² quadrat was removed from the sampling drill-strip of each plot, peas removed with a mini-viner, and yield and TR score were measured. This was done for plots from the first sowing date on 10 January, and for the second sowing date on 28 January.
- Seed yield was measured at maturity, both on 1 m² quadrat samples and on combine samples harvested from the second drillstrip of each plot by Plant Research (NZ) Ltd. This was done for plots from the first sowing date on 27 January, and for the second sowing date on 16 February.
- Ascochyta infection in harvested seed was measured after harvest. Samples from each plot were supplied to the plant pathology laboratory to test for the presence of Ascochyta spp. The methodology used was as recommended by ISTA (International Rules for Seed Testing 7-005 (2002): Detection of Ascochyta pisi on Pisum sativum (Pea)). Fifty seeds

were randomly taken from each of the samples and surface sterilised using a solution of 1% sodium hypochlorite (available chlorine) for 10 min, followed by draining. Ten seeds were placed on each Petri dish containing PDA (potato dextrose agar). Plates were incubated at 20°C and examined for colony growth after 7 days. No Ascochyta was found.

- Crop stress measured as percentage of reflected light was measured on 27 January 2005 in the November sowing plots using the multispectral radiometer (CROPSCAN, Inc. Fargo, ND). Cropscan Radiometer System is a remote sensing system designed to detect, measure, record and analyse energy in selected portions of the electromagnetic spectrum. The amount and quality of light reflected from a crop canopy are dependent on both the crop species and the condition of the crop. Stresses of various kinds (e.g. pests, diseases, nutrient deficiencies and drought) affect reflectance. The radiometer is therefore particularly useful as an objective and efficient means of estimating the impact of any condition that affects plant health, yield, or quality of the crop. The features of the system are upward- and downward-facing sensors that measure both incoming and reflected radiation, which interfaces with the CROPSCAN DLC, a multichannel Data Logger Controller. Two readings for each of the 8 wavelengths per plot were made, and averaged to one value per plot. The results of 810 nm are given in Section 5.6.
- Weather data were collected from a Campbell Scientific CR10X weather station that measured hourly temperature and relative humidity at 1.4 m height, soil temperature (10 cm below soil surface), leaf wetness, rainfall and solar radiation. The weather station was placed in the field site on 24 November and weather data from midnight 25 November were used in this project. Long-term means (1975-1991) for Broadfield's weather station were used to allow comparisons of this season's weather variables with long-term means.

5.5 Statistical analyses

- Soil moisture measurements were taken in all plots of two treatments: no inoculum/with fungicide and with inoculum/without fungicide for both sowing dates. Soil measurements were taken regularly from 23 November. For the October-sown plots, soil probe measurements ceased on 20 January, but they were continued for nearly 4 weeks more for November-sown plots, with the last measurement taken on 15 February. The mean, maximum, and total deficits over dates were calculated for each plot. Each of these was strongly affected by the greater number of measurements taken for the November-sown plots, in particular because soil moisture deficit was high in February. These plot summaries were analysed with analysis of variance. Only soil moisture deficits are explored here.
- Ascochyta was not present before January, so only data from the second full assessment were analysed. Average scores were calculated for each assessed plant (averaging over nodes for pods, stipules, leaves and stem scores), and then the average of these scores per plot was calculated. Average plot scores were also calculated for Pod 1, Pod 2 and

stem. Scores for Leaf 1 and Leaf 2 and Stipule 1 and Stipule 2 were zero in the majority of cases, so these were not included in the analyses. The plot averages were analysed with analysis of variance.

- Average downy mildew scores were calculated for each assessed plant (averaging over nodes), and then the average score of these per plot was calculated. The first full assessment for the two sowing dates was analysed with analysis of variance.
- The percentage of plants with disease was calculated for each plot. For the two full assessments, these were analysed with a binomial generalised linear model (McCullagh & Nelder 1989). The effect of sowing date, Mycosphaerella inoculation and fungicide were assessed in the analysis of deviance in this analysis, similarly to analysis of variance. In the table of results, 95% confidence limits are presented with the percentage infected plants. These were calculated as part of the analysis. Since only one replicate was assessed for the intermediate assessment, no formal statistical comparisons were possible.
- The number of nodes and dead nodes for each plant were calculated using the downy mildew data. The mean number of nodes per plant for the plants from each plot was then calculated. The percentage of dead nodes per plot was calculated as 100 x (total dead nodes per plot) / (total number of nodes per plot). This gave a plot average weighted by the total number of nodes per plant, which was, in practice very close to percentage mean dead for each plant for each plot. Mean numbers of nodes were analysed with analysis of variance. The percentage of dead nodes was analysed in the same way as the percentage of disease plants, using a binomial generalised linear model.
- Growth stages: Since growth stages were only assessed from one plot per sowing date at any assessment, and the plots sampled were chosen at random ignoring the treatments, no formal comparison could be made. Therefore, the average score (vegetative and reproductive growth stage) was calculated for each sowing and sampling date. A standard error of these means was calculated from the separate standard deviations for each sowing and sampling date (excluding the first date for the November sowing). The 95% confidence limits on the graph were calculated from these pooled standard errors.
- Percent reflectance: The results for percent reflectance at the 810 nm wavelength were analysed with analysis of variance.

All analyses were carried out with GenStat (GenStat Committee 2005).

5.6 Results

5.6.1 Soil moisture deficit

Changes in soil moisture deficit over time followed similar patterns for all plots (Fig. 10). In the last month, after measurements on the October-sown plots ceased, moisture deficit was high in all plots. The major differences in maximum, mean and total soil moisture deficits were related to sowing date, with a higher deficit for November-sown crops for each (P=0.007, 0.052, 0.002) respectively. These higher values are strongly related to the larger number of assessments done, particularly as the deficit was noticeably higher in February. However, the analyses were also heavily affected by one very low value (Plot 1) and one very high value (Plot 8) for all three measurements: both of these plots were in Replicate 1 on the ends of the replicate, and both in November-sown crops. Therefore, to assess the influence of these plots, the analysis was repeated, excluding all the data for Replicate 1. With the removal of these data, the sowing date effect remained (P<0.001 for all measurements), but the estimated random variability was substantially lower (as reflected in the smaller LSDs in Table 14). There was some evidence of treatment effects: for the November sowing, the deficit was lower when the treatments (fungicide, Mycosphaerella inoculation) were applied than when they were not applied (P=0.088, 0.026, 0.021 for maximum, mean, minimum for the sowing date X treatment interaction).

The plots did not reach any significant moisture stress, but in November-sown plots there was a slight deficit during pea maturation, a period during which soil moisture levels are not important. The mean maximum soil moisture deficit reached was 90 mm and the maximum individual plots was 110 mm.

Yield was weakly related to deficit, with larger yields in general when the deficit was lower (Fig. 11). Two plots (November, sprayed, in reps 3 and 4) had higher yields given the deficit than for the rest of the trial. The correlations (r) between yield and deficit were -0.54, -0.60 and -0.60 for maximum, mean and total soil moisture deficits respectively.



Figure 10: Probe moisture measurements over time for each measured plot (Ladbrooks).



Figure 11: Relationship between yield and maximum soil moisture deficit for the Ladbrooks trial.

			All data			Rep 1 excluded		
Sowing date	Fungicide	Inoculum	Max	Mean	Total	Max	Mean	Total
Oct	Nil	With	62.52	41.03	369.25	61.83	40.06	360.57
Oct	With	Nil	53.92	37.71	339.38	55.20	37.88	340.93
Nov	Nil	With	87.25	51.86	622.38	79.57	47.34	568.03
Nov	With	Nil	81.50	47.58	556.05	90.73	53.89	626.77
LSD 5%			24.36	14.82	167.77	15.15	5.16	43.74
df			9			6		

Table 14: Ladbrooks, mean summaries of soil moisture deficit (all data, excluding the data for replicate 1).

5.6.2 Ascochyta blight

Asochyta blight was first noted on 7 January in the October-sown plots and on 22 January in the November-sown plots. Average plant Ascochyta blight severity score varied with sowing date, fungicide and *Mycosphaerella* inoculation treatments (*P*=0.023 for the three-way interaction). Scores were lower for both sowing dates, with and without inoculation when fungicide was applied, but the reduction varied (Fig. 12, Table 15). The greatest amount of Ascochyta was in the November sowing in the *Mycosphaerella*-inoculated plots when there was no fungicide, and the least was in the October sowing in the uninoculated plots where fungicide was applied. Inoculation had little effect on the October sowing when fungicide was not applied; there was a similar pattern in the November sowing, but when fungicide was applied.

Stem scores varied between sowing dates (P=0.003) and were affected by fungicide (P=0.034) and *Mycosphaerella* inoculation (P<0.001), but these factors had largely independent effects (no interaction was statistically significant at the 5% level; Fig. 12, Table 15). Stem Ascochyta score was greater in the November sowing (6.8 compared to 4.9 on average) or in the absence of fungicide (7.6 compared to 4.2 with fungicide on average), or when Ascochyta was inoculated (6.5 compared to 5.2 with no inoculation, on average).

Severity on both pods 1 and 2 was heavily affected by *Mycosphaerella* inoculation, and fungicide, and varied also between sowing dates (P=0.002 and P=0.023 for pods 1 and 2 respectively; Fig. 12, Table 15). The pattern for the two pods was very similar, with very low average scores for fungicide-sprayed pods. There was no Ascochyta on unsprayed, uninoculated plots in the October sowing, with a slight infection (average score below 0.2) in the October, inoculated, sprayed plots. In the November sowing, there was slightly more Ascochyta on unsprayed plots in the absence of fungicide (average score around 0.2), but a much greater infection level when the plot was both unsprayed and inoculated (average scores of 1.5 and 0.75 for the two pods).

			Average plant			
Sowing	<i>Myco</i> . inoc.	Fungicide	score	Pod 1	Pod 2	Stem
Oct	Nil	Nil	2.35	0.00	0.00	5.88
		With	0.51	0.07	0.03	2.71
	With	Nil	2.30	0.17	0.09	6.38
		With	1.34	0.10	0.07	4.74
Nov	Nil	Nil	1.97	0.24	0.22	8.27
		With	1.12	0.02	0.05	4.08
	With	Nil	3.01	1.15	0.75	9.90
		With	1.04	0.00	0.00	5.14
LSD 5% (df=21)			0.85	0.23	0.23	2.40

Table 15: Mean Ascochyta scores	for each	treatment.
---------------------------------	----------	------------



Figure 12: Mean Ascochyta scores on plants, stems and the first two pods.

5.6.3 Downy mildew

Average downy mildew plant score (Table 16, Fig. 13) varied with both sowing date and fungicide (P=0.029 for the interaction), but there were no statistically significant effects relating to *Mycosphaerella* inoculation (P>0.05). For the October sowing, downy mildew severity levels were substantially lower than for the November sowing, with average scores below 1 for the October sowing, and above 2 for the November sowing. Fungicide reduced disease scores, on average, but the effect was greater in the November sowing than in the October sowing. These differences were probably partly due to the longer time between sowing and the first full assessment for the November sowing (57 days) compared to the October sowing (46 days).

The percentage of infected plants varied with sowing date (P<0.001) in the first full assessment, but was not strongly affected by either *Mycosphaerella* inoculation or fungicide (P>0.02 or greater). All plants in the November sowing were infected, but only around 88% of plants in the October sowing showed some infection at the first full assessment. In contrast, at the second full assessment, the percentage of infected plants varied with both sowing date and with *Mycosphaerella* inoculation (P=0.029), with no effect of the fungicide

(P>0.05). Infection levels were higher in the October sowing than for the November sowing. Percentage infection with downy mildew was reduced by *Mycosphaerella* inoculation in both sowings, with a smaller reduction in the October sowing date (94% incidence of downy mildew on average compared to 100%), than in the November sowing (53% incidence compared to 63%).

			First ful	l assessment	Intermediate	Second full assessment
Sow date	<i>Myco</i> inoc.	Fung.	Average plant score	% of plants with infection	% of plants with infection	% of plants with infection
Oct	Nil	Nil	0.76	92.5 (79.2,97.6)		100.0 (91.0,100)
		With	0.38	85.0 (70.4,93.1)		100.0 (91.0,100)
	With	Nil	0.63	90.0 (76.2,96.2)	100.0	95.0 (82.1,98.7)
		With	0.20	85.0 (70.4,93.1)	100.0	92.1 (78.2,97.4)
Nov	Nil	Nil	3.26	100.0 (90.7,100)		56.4 (40.7,70.9)
		With	2.23	100.0 (91.0,100)		71.1 (54.9,83.2)
	With	Nil	3.20	100.0 (90.7,100)	20.0	50.0 (35.0,65.0)
		With	2.23	100.0 (90.3,100)	70.0	56.4 (40.7,70.9)
LSD 5% (df=21)			0.53			

Table 16: Downy mildew: mean plant scores and percentage of plants with infection for each treatment (95% confidence limits in brackets, for percentage infection.).



Figure 13: Downy mildew severity and incidence. (95% confidence limits for % infection not shown; + or – refers to Mycosphaerella inoculation).

5.6.4 Number of nodes, percentage of dead nodes

At the first full assessment, numbers of nodes varied with sowing date (P<0.001), but was not affected by either fungicide or Mycosphaerella inoculation (P>0.05, Table 17, Fig. 14). There were approximately two more nodes (mean = 10.9) in the November sowing date than in the October date (mean = 8.8), probably primarily reflecting the larger number of days between sowing and assessment. At this assessment, the percentage of dead nodes on the plants was affected by Mycosphaerella inoculation and fungicide applications in addition to sowing date. Overall, the percentage of dead nodes was substantially lower in the October sowing (below 1%, P<0.001) than in the November sowing (above 18% on average). The effect of inoculating with Mycosphaerella varied due to the fungicide applications (P=0.021), with little effect of inoculum when fungicide was used (4% dead nodes on average). However, the percentage of dead nodes increased when there was no fungicide and where inoculum had been applied (average of 14% dead nodes with no inoculum compared to 19% where inoculum had been applied).

At the second full assessment, numbers of nodes were not affected by Mycosphaerella inoculation (P>0.4), but did vary between sowing dates and due to the fungicide applications (P=0.032 for the sowing date X fungicide interaction). There were fewer nodes on average in the October sowing (mean of 13.6) than in the November sowing (greater than 17), nodes decreased in this sowing by about 0.5 per plant due to the fungicide applications. For percentage of nodes with dead leaves, the effect of fungicide varied both due to Mycosphaerella inoculation and between sowing dates (P=0.05 in the 3way interaction). The percentage of nodes with dead leaves was lower in the October sowing than in the November sowing, with less than 50% of nodes dead in October and more than 57% of nodes dead in the November sowing. Mycosphaerella inoculation had little effect on the percentage nodes with dead leaves in the November sowing, but there was a greater percentage of dead nodes in the absence of fungicide than when fungicide was applied. In the October sowing, inoculation had little effect in the absence of fungicide, with around 44% of nodes dead, but where fungicides were applied, more nodes were dead where Mycosphaerella inoculum was applied than in the equivalent uninoculated treatment (48% compared to 38%).

			Firs	st assessment	Second assessment		
Sowing	<i>Myco</i> inoc	Fungicide	Nodes	% Dead nodes	Nodes	% Dead nodes	
Oct	Nil	Nil	8.7	0.0 (0.0,1.1)	13.5	45.7 (39.8,51.8)	
		With	8.7	0.3 (0.0,4.4)	13.9	38.0 (32.4,43.9)	
	With	Nil	8.6	0.6 (0.1,4.0)	13.5	42.6 (36.8,48.6)	
		With	9.0	0.0 (0.0,1.0)	13.8	47.5 (41.6,53.6)	
Nov	Nil	Nil	10.9	25.1 (19.7,31.4)	17.4	65.1 (59.8,70.0)	
		With	11.0	8.9 (5.7,13.5)	17.2	59.7 (54.4,64.8)	
	With	Nil	10.8	34.8 (28.6,41.6)	17.6	67.4 (62.4,72.1)	
		With	11.0	5.6 (3.1,9.7)	16.9	58.9 (53.5,64.0)	
LSD 5% (df=21)		0.6		0.7			

Table 17: Mean number of nodes and % dead nodes for each treatment (95% confidence limits in brackets, for % dead nodes).



Figure 14: Numbers of nodes, and % dead nodes. (95% confidence limits for % dead not shown; + or – refers to Mycosphaerella inoculation).

5.6.5 Growth stage

Table 18 and Figure 15 summarise the mean growth stages (GS) for 10 plants taken from plots of each of the sowing dates at approx 1-week intervals during the trial. Plants from both sowings produced approx. 16 nodes (GS 116). Flowering (GS 201) for plants in the October sowing was first recorded on 1 December (53 days after sowing), and in the November sowing on 31 December (59 days after sowing).

	Vegetat	ive stage	Reprodu	ctive stage
Date	October	November	October	November
11/11/04	105.5	4.0 ¹	*	*
17/11/04	108.4	102.5	*	*
24/11/04	110.2	104.3	*	*
01/12/04	110.6	105.3	201.4	*
08/12/04	111.5	106.2	203.7	*
15/12/04	112.0	108.2	204.5	*
22/12/04	115.7	109.9	205.6	*
31/12/04	116.6	113.1	206.0	201.9
05/01/05	115.2	114.2	206.4	203.6
13/01/05	115.1	114.1	207.0	205.0
19/01/05	115.1	116.1	208.8	206.2

Table 18: Mean growth stages for the two sowing dates.

*No plants at a reproductive stage. ¹The growth stage at this assessment was at the germination and emergence stage.



Figure 15: Mean growth stages, for each sowing date, assessed over three months.

5.6.6 Vining yields

Vining yield from the October sowing date was 12 tonnes/ha and from the November sowing date, 9 tonnes/ha. This represented a 33% lower vining yield from the later sowing.

5.6.7 Grain yields

The November sowing gave grain yields that were 17% greater than from the October sowing (Table 19). This was due to a 24% greater plant population in the late sowing than in the early sowing. Inoculation of plots with *Mycosphaerella* slightly decreased grain yields, an effect that was not statistically significant (P > 0.05). The fungicide applications resulted in a 21% increase in grain yield. This was due to increases in the mean number of pods/plant and mean seed weight.

Further analysis of yield components showed that sowing date and spraying with fungicide had an effect on yield component parameters. Treatment with fungicide increased yield. Sowing in October also increased the yield compared with the November sowing except for the variable total grain weight. The significant differences between spraying and not spraying, and October and November sowing date for each parameter are shown in Table 20.

Table	19:	Mean	plot	harvested	seed	yields	and	yield	components	for	different	treatments
applied	to p	olots of	Durar	ngo peas in	Trial 2							

Treatment	Plot yield (tonne/ha)	100 seed wt (g)	No of plants/m ²	No of pods/plant	No of peas/pod	Mean pea wt (mg)
Sowing date	(+17%)		(+24%)		(+9%)	(-6%)
October	4.85	21.4	91.0	5.6	7.0	190
November	5.67	21.5	112.6	5.4	7.6**	179
LSD (<i>P</i> =0.05)	0.28	0.54	9.1	0.5	0.4	6
Inoculation						
Nil	5.38	21.3	104.4	5.3	7.3	184
With	5.14	21.6	99.2	5.7	7.2	184
LSD (<i>P</i> =0.05)	0.28	0.54	9.1	0.5	0.4	6
Fungicide	(+21%)	(+6%)		(+20%)		(+8%)
Nil	4.75	20.8	104.6	5.0	7.3	177
With	5.77	22.1	99.0	6.0	7.3	192
LSD (<i>P</i> =0.05)	0.28	0.54	9.08	0.5	0.4	6

Spray	Total plant fresh wt	Subsample fresh wt	Pod fresh wt	Pea no	Pea fresh wt	Pea dry wt
With	531.19	114.19	73.63	299.88	60.18	55.22
Nil	456.06	96.65	58.24	248.81	48.90	43.04
Spray	Bulk fresh wt	Bulk pea fresh wt	Pea no_1	Total grain wt	Total pods per m ²	Live pod no per m ²
With	417.00	216.82	1132.06	191.60	581.59	535.95
Nil	359.41	168.67	961.88	176.48	516.07	472.83
Spray	Total peas per m ²	Total live peas per m ²	Total no pods per plant	Pea dry wt per pod	Pea fresh yield	Pea dry yield
With	3922.21	2820.52	6.18	0.88	554.00	508.20
Nil	3443.13	2344.47	5.10	0.79	435.15	387.53
Spray	Pea fresh wt t per ha	Pea dry wt t per ha				
With	5.54	5.08				
Nil	4.35	3.88				
Sowing	Total plant fresh wt	Dead pod no	Dead pod fresh wt	Bulk fresh wt	Bulk pea fresh wt	Bulk pea no
Oct	532.29	6.31	1.25	425.10	221.02	1231.56
Nov	454.96	3.25	0.45	351.31	164.48	862.38
Sowing	Total grain wt	Total pods per m ²	Live pod no per m ²	Dead pod no per m²	Total peas per m²	Total live peas per m ²
Oct	178.49	599.55	538.53	61.03	4081.25	2901.79
Nov	189.59	498.11	470.25	27.86	3284.10	2263.20
Sowing	Mean no peas per pod	Pea fresh yield	Pea dry yield	Pea fresh wt t per ha		
Oct	7.56	556.21	497.70	5.56		
Nov	6.99	432.93	398.04	4.33		

Table 20: Fungicide and sowing date main effect means (only significantly different variables presented).

5.6.8 Crop reflectance

The percentage of reflectance was measured using CropScan in the November-sown plots. Reflectance (Fig. 16) was highest in the plots treated with fungicide (P< 001), regardless of *Mycosphaerella* inoculation. Fungicide significantly affected reflectance, and this effect was modified by the *Mycosphaerella* inoculation (P=0.033 for the 2-way interaction). The lowest crop reflectance was in the nil fungicide plots that were inoculated with *Mycosphaerella* (Fig. 16). Reflectance in these plots was less than reflectance in unsprayed plots that were inoculated with *Mycosphaerella*. These results agree with the final Ascochyta disease scores. Cropscan was a useful method of assessing plant stress, but this technology has the limitation of requiring

clear (cloudless) weather conditions for measurements and requiring measurements to be done within two hours of solar noon.

5.6.9 Ladbrooks weather data

Weather data for the Ladbrooks site are presented in Figure 17 and Table 22. Weather data were collected by the weather station from 25 November. The total rainfall for the month of December at the trial site was 117 mm, more than twice the long-term average for Broadfields (Table 21). Rainfall for January (33 mm) was less at the trial site than the long-term average (50 mm), and February rainfall was considerable less than the long-term average. Mean, minimum and maximum temperatures for the month of December were less than long-term averages, but January and February means were similar to long-term averages (Tables 21 and 22). Mean daily leaf wetness and the number of hours per day when leaf wetness was more than 50% are shown in Figure 17. There were 37 rainy days out of 103 days from 25 November until 17 January. Furthermore, there were many continuous days for most of December and until mid-January when leaf wetness was more than 50% for 12 hours or more. Conditions at the end of November and in December appeared suitable for *M. pinoides* infection and spread, especially immediately after inoculation on 23 November and 8 December. Roger et al. (1999) have shown that a dry period following infection by pycnidiospores may prevent infection and disease development but ungerminated pycnidiospores remain viable and infection can resume after rewetting. At high inoculum concentration, the spore density compensated for the effects of dry periods ..



Figure 16: Percentage reflectance for each treatment in the November sowing, measured on 27 January 2005.



Figure 17: Weather data from the weather station located at the Ladbrooks trial (rainfall and mean temperature data prior to 25 November were taken from Broadfields weather station data): total daily rainfall, mean daily temperature, mean daily relative humidity, mean daily leaf wetness, and number of hours each day when leaf wetness was greater than 50%.

Month	Solar	Rainfall	Penman	Tmax	Tmean	Tmin	VP	Windrun
January	669.6	50.3	153	22.6	17.0	11.4	13.7	12865
February	515.2	51.3	117.6	21.7	16.3	11.0	13.7	11116
March	421.6	58.9	96.2	20.1	15.0	9.9	13.2	11563
April	288.0	51.8	62.6	17.5	12.2	6.7	11.5	9840
Мау	176.7	50.4	43.7	13.8	8.7	3.7	9.1	9455
June	126.0	63.0	33.0	11.2	6.3	1.5	7.5	8310
July	145.7	73.7	37.1	10.7	6.1	1.4	7.3	9052
August	220.1	68.1	50.7	12.2	7.6	2.9	8.1	10540
September	339.0	40.1	68.6	14.2	9.2	4.3	9.1	10830
October	508.4	54.9	104.6	16.7	11.3	6.0	10.1	12307
November	603.0	55.7	123.9	18.4	13.1	8.0	11.1	11940
December	672.7	61.3	142.7	21.3	15.7	10.2	13.1	12245

Table 21: Long-term means for Broadfields (1975-91).

Table 22: Data for 2004-05 season from Broadfields weather station, data from the field site in parentheses.

Month	Solar	Rainfall	Penman	Tmax	Tmean	Tmin	VP	Windrun
Oct	507.5	25.4	100.6	15.9	10.8	5.8	9.9	11852.2
Nov	302.4	31.0	61.4	17.5	12.4	6.3	10.3	6069.2
Dec	644.2	131.6 (117)	125.0	16.9 (16.9)	12.1 (12.3)	7.8 (8.1)	10.9	13138.7
Jan	722.2	33.6 (33)	150.3	21.7 (22.2)	16.3 (16.6)	11.5 (11.7)	13.6	11298.7
Feb	515.9	18.6 (18)	108.3	23.4 (23.9)	17.3 (17.8)	12.7 (13.1)	15.7	9624.2

5.7 Summary of trial 2 (property of Mr Bruce Garrett, Ladbrooks)

The majority of plots in this trial never reached significant moisture stress levels. The mean maximum soil moisture deficit was 90 mm, more than the 88 mm known to be the critical soil moisture deficit causing plant stress but this occurred during pea maturation. The weather data collected from the trial site showed that in December it rained more than twice as much (117 mm) as the average long-term rainfall for Broadfields (61 mm). The mean minimum temperature at the trial site was 8.1°C, the overall mean temperature was 12.3°C and mean maximum temperature was 16.9°C, these were all lower than long-term means (10.2, 15.7 and 21.3°C respectively).

Inoculation of plots with *Mycosphaerella* gave a small increase in Ascochyta blight.

Sowing date affected this disease, which was generally more severe in plots sown in November than those sown in October. Downy mildew was also affected by sowing date; incidence was greater in October-sown plots than those sown in November, but the disease was more severe in Novembersown plots than those sown in October.

The fungicide applications reduced Ascochyta severity on all plant parts (stems, stipules, leaves and pods). Fungicide applications also reduced downy mildew severity.

Vining yields were 33% less from November-sown plots than those sown in October. Conversely, grain yield was 17% greater in November-sown plots than in October sowings. The fungicide applications resulted in a 21% increase in grain yield, through increased components of yield.

Weather conditions this season appeared conducive to the spread of Ascochyta blight and downy mildew.

Key summary points from the first year

- During the 2004/05 growing season, rainfall in December was more than twice the long-term average at both trial sites used in this study. Similarly, minimum and maximum temperatures were lower than longterm means. Incidence and severity of downy mildew and Ascochyta blight were high during this growing season. It is possible that the high rainfall and low temperatures during the first half of the growing season were conducive to the development of these diseases.
- Treatment with fungicide had by far the greatest effect on the severity of Ascochyta blight and downy mildew, the two predominant diseases found in the two field trials. The fungicide regime used was an experimental tool aiming to reduce foliar diseases of peas, but not designed as a practical or economic pea crop management method. Nevertheless, the treatments resulted in a 76% grain yield increase for field peas, and a 21% seed yield increase for vining peas. This strongly suggests that adequate control of foliar diseases can benefit pea crop productivity.
- Irrigation and ripping only had a slight effect on Ascochyta scores, and at times, these factors interacted with fungicide treatments. Ascochyta blight was sometimes more severe when either ripping or irrigation were used than when neither or both were used.
- Future research in this project should aim to confirm and quantify relationships between weather and disease, develop practical disease control strategies and continue to examine effects of water availability. In growing seasons where rainfall is closer to average and pea crops are probably under moisture stress, methods of improving root development and water uptake are more likely to affect pea yields.

6

7 Acknowledgements

This project is funded by the MAF Sustainable Farming Fund, and the following contributors to the Pea Industry Development Group: Annett Grain & Seed Ltd, Bayer New Zealand Ltd, Canterbury Seed Co. Ltd, Foundation for Arable Research, Heinz-Watties Ltd, McCain Foods (NZ) Ltd, Midland Seed Ltd, New Zealand Institute for Crop & Food Research Ltd, NZ Vegetable & Potato Growers' Federation Inc., Peter Cates Ltd, Plant Research (NZ) Ltd, Seed Production (NZ) Ltd, Seminis Vegetable Seeds (NZ) Ltd, and Wrightson Seeds Ltd.

Mr Rob McIlraith and Mr Bruce Garrett provided land and general crop management facilities for the two field trials. Mr Max Moore (Bayer New Zealand Ltd) and Dr Ian Harvey (Plantwise) provided input to the planning of the fungicide regime used for the trials, and Mr Bede McCloy (New Zealand Arable) supervised the fungicide spray programme that was followed. Mr Adrian Russell (Plant Research (NZ) Ltd) carried out crop establishment and grain harvesting of the trials, and Mr Tony Daveron (HydroServices Ltd) carried out soil water measurements.

8 Bibliography

Abd-El-Rehim, M.A.; Abo-Taleb, E.M.; Michail, S.H.; Metwally, S.M. 1997: Seed health testing of peas for *Ascochyta* spp. and their impact on foliage seed health and seed yield. *Acta Phytopathologica et Entomologica Hungarica 32*: 89-95.

Ali, S.M.; Paterson, J.; Crosby, J. 1982: A standard technique for detecting seed-borne pathogens in peas, chemical control, and testing commercial seed in South Australia. *Australian Journal of Experimental Agriculture and Animal Husbandry 22*: 348-352.

Ali, S.M.; Sharma, B.; Ambrose, M.J. 1994: Current status and future strategy in breeding pea to improve resistance to biotic and abiotic stresses. *In*: Expanding the production and use of cool season food legumes. Proceedings of the Second International Food Legume Research Conference on pea, lentil, faba bean, chickpea, and grasspea, Cairo, Egypt, 12-16 April 1992.

Amit, W.; Singh, P.P.; Sandhu, K.S. 2002: Factors affecting growth and sporulation of *Ascochyta pisi*. *Plant Disease Research 17*: 371-374.

Bailey, K.L.; Gossen, B.D.; Derksen, D.A.; Watson, P.R. 2000: Impact of agronomic practices and environment on diseases of wheat and lentil in southeastern Saskatchewan. *Canadian Journal of Plant Science 80*: 917-927.

Banniza, S.; Vanderberg, A. 2003: The influence of plant injury on development of *Mycosphaerella pinodes* in field pea. *Canadian Journal of Plant Pathology 25*: 304-411.

Baranger, A.; Tivoli, B. 1998: Involvement of partial resistance in the genetic control of diseases - the case of Ascochyta blight resistance in pea. *In*: 3rd European conference on grain legumes. Opportunities for high quality, healthy and added-value crops to meet European demands. Valladolid, Spain, 14-19 November 1998.

Beasse, C.; Ney, B.; Tivoli, B. 1999: Effects of pod infection by *Mycosphaerella pinodes* on yield components of pea (*Pisum sativum*). *Annals of Applied Biology 135*: 359-367.

Beasse, C.; Ney, B.; Tivoli, B. 2000: A simple model of pea (*Pisum sativum*) growth affected by *Mycosphaerella pinodes*. *Plant Pathology 49*: 187-200.

Bhardwaj, C.L.; Vinay, S. 1999: A study on spore germination characters of isolates of *Ascochyta pinodes and Phoma medicaginis* var. *pinodella* from peas. *Journal of Mycology and Plant Pathology 29*: 364-367.

Biarnes-Dumoulin, V.; Gaillard, B.; Mangin, M.; Ney, B.; Wery, J. 1998: Modelling field pea yield: a tool for crop diagnosis and prospects. In: 3rd European conference on grain legumes. Opportunities for high quality, healthy and added-value crops to meet European demands. Valladolid, Spain, 14-19 November 1998. Bowen, J.K.; Peart, J.; Lewis, B.G.; Cooper, C.; Matthews, P. 1996: Development of monoclonal antibodies against the fungi of the 'Ascochyta complex'. *Plant Pathology 45*: 393-406.

Bretag, T.W.; Keane, P.J.; Price, T.V. 1995: Effect of Ascochyta blight on the grain yield of field peas (*Pisum sativum* L.) grown in southern Australia. *Australian Journal of Experimental Agriculture 35*: 531-536.

Bretag, T.W.; Price, T.V.; Keane, P.J. 1995: Importance of seed-borne inoculum in the etiology of the Ascochyta blight complex of field peas (*Pisum sativum* L.) grown in Victoria. *Australian Journal of Experimental Agriculture 35*: 525-530.

Bretag, T.W.; Keane, P.J.; Price, T.V. 2000: Effect of sowing date on the severity of ascochyta blight in field peas (*Pisum sativum* L.) grown in the Wimmera region of Victoria. *Australian Journal of Experimental Agriculture 40*: 1113-1119.

Davidson, J.A.; Ramsey, M.D. 2000: Pea yield decline syndrome in South Australia: the role of diseases and the impact of agronomic practices. *Australian Journal of Agricultural Research 51*: 347-354.

Dhiman, J.S.; Dhillon, G.S.; Bhathal, G.S. 1987: Effect of population density of host on the incidence and intensity of Ascochyta blight of peas. *Journal of Research, Punjab Agricultural University 24:* 595-600.

Dobson, S.C.; Heath, M.C. 1991: Control of foliar diseases in combining peas. *Aspects of Applied Biology 27*: 343-346.

Duparque, M.; Baranger, A.; Tivoli, B.; Onfroy, C.; Boitel, C.; Morin, G. 1998: Investigating a new simple screening method for Ascochyta blight (*Mycosphaerella pinodes*) resistance applicable in field pea (*Pisum sativum* L.) breeding nurseries. *In*: 3rd European conference on grain legumes. Opportunities for high quality, healthy and added-value crops to meet European demands. Valladolid, Spain, 14-19 November 1998.

Falloon, R.E.; Viljanen-Rollinson, S.L.H.; Coles, G.D.; Poff, J.D. 1995: Disease severity keys for powdery and downy mildews of pea, and powdery scab of potato. *New Zealand Journal of Crop and Horticultural Science 23*: 31-37.

Faris-Mokaiesh, S.; Corbiere, R.; Lyons, N.F.; Spire, D. 1995: Evaluation of an enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay for detection of *Mycosphaerella pinodes* in pea seeds. *Annals of Applied Biology 127*: 441-455.

Faris-Mokaiesh, S.; Boccara, M.; Denis, J.B.; Derrien, A.; Spire, D. 1996: Differentiation of the "Ascochyta complex" fungi of pea by biochemical and molecular markers. *Current Genetics 29*: 182-190.

Garry, G.; Tivoli, B.; Jeuffroy, M.H.; Citharel, J. 1996: Effects of Ascochyta blight caused by *Mycosphaerella pinodes* on the translocation of carbohydrates and nitrogenous compounds from the leaf and hull to the seed of dried-pea. *Plant Pathology 45*: 769-777.

Garry, G.; Jeuffroy, M.H.; Ney, B.; Tivoli, B. 1998: Effects of Ascochyta blight (*Mycosphaerella pinodes*) on the photosynthesizing leaf area and the

photosynthetic efficiency of the green leaf area of dried-pea (*Pisum sativum*). *Plant Pathology 47*: 473-479.

Garry, G.; Jeuffroy, M.H.; Tivoli, B. 1998: Effects of ascochyta blight (*Mycosphaerella pinodes* Berk. & Blox.) on biomass production, seed number and seed weight of dried-pea (*Pisum sativum* L.) as affected by plant growth stage and disease intensity. *Annals of Applied Biology* 132: 49-59.

GenStat Committee 2005: The guide to GenStat release 8 - Parts 1-3. Oxford, VSN International.

Gossen, B.D.; Derksen, D.A. 2003: Impact of tillage and crop rotation on ascochyta blight (*Ascochyta lentis*) of lentil. *Canadian Journal of Plant Science 83*: 411-415.

Hagedorn, D.J. 1985: Diseases of peas: their importance and opportunities for breeding for disease resistance. *In*: The pea crop. Hebblethwaite P.D.; Heath, M.C.; Dawkins, T.C.K. Eds. Butterworths, London, UK. 205-213.

Heenan, D.P. 1994: Effects of sowing time on growth and grain yield of lupin and field pea in south-eastern New South Wales. *Australian Journal of Experimental Agriculture 34*: 1137-1142.

Hewett, P.D. 1979: Pretreatment in seed health testing 2. Duration of hypochlorite pretreatment in the agar plate test for *Ascochyta* spp. *Seed Science and Technology 7:* 83-85.

Hewett, P.D. 1987: Detection of seed-borne *Ascochyta pisi* Lib. and test agreement within and between laboratories. *Seed Science and Technology 15*: 271-283.

Hnatowich, G. 2000. Pulse Production Manual. Saskatchewan Pulse Growers, Saskatoon, Canada. Downloaded 14 May 2004 from http://www.saskpulse.com/library/ppm/index.html

Huber, L.; Itier, B. 1990: Leaf wetness duration in a field bean canopy. *Agricultural and Forest Meteorology 51*: 281-292.

Huber, L.; Gillespie, T.J. 1992: Modelling leaf wetness in relation to plant disease epidemiology. *Annual Review of Phytopathology 30*: 553-577.

Huber, L.; Fitt, B.D.L.; McCartney, H.A. 1996: The incorporation of pathogen spores into rain-splash droplets: a modelling approach. *Plant Pathology 45*: 506-517.

Hwang, S.F.; Lopetinsky, K.; Evans, I.R. 1991: Effects of seed infection by *Ascochyta* spp., fungicide seed treatment and cultivar on yield parameters of field pea under field conditions. *Canadian Plant Disease Survey* 71: 169-172.

Iqbal, S.M.; Jamali, A.R.; Rauf, C.A.; Akram, A. 2001: Screening of pea (*Pisum sativum* L.) germplasm against blight disease caused by *Ascochyta pisi. Pakistan Journal of Phytopathology* 13: 64-66.

Jarosz, N.; Loubet, B.; Durand, B.; McCartney, A.; Foueillassar, X.; Huber, L. 2003: Field measurements of airborne concentration and deposition rate of maize pollen. *Agricultural and Forest Meteorology 119*: 37-51.

Jimenez-Diaz, R.M.; Porta-Puglia, A.; Tivoli, B. 1998: New approaches in the integrated disease management of legume diseases: toward sustainable crop

health. *In*: 3rd European conference on grain legumes. Opportunities for high quality, healthy and added-value crops to meet European demands. Valladolid, Spain, 14-19 November 1998.

Kaiser, W.J.; Ramsey, M.D.; Makkouk, K.M.; Bretag, T.W.; Acikgoz, N.; Kumar, J.; Nutter, F.W., Jr. 2000: Foliar diseases of cool season food legumes and their control. *In*: Linking research and marketing opportunities for pulses in the 21st Century: Proceedings of the Third International Food Legumes Research Conference, Adelaide, Australia, 22-26 September 1997.

Knott, C.M. 1987: A key for stages of development of the pea (*Pisum sativum*). *Annals of Applied Biology* 111: 233-244.

Kraft, J.M. 1991: Pea diseases. Aspects of Applied Biology 27: 313-319.

Kraft, J.M.; Pfleger, F.L. ed. 2001: Compendium of pea diseases and pests. 2nd edition. St Paul, Minnesota, The American Phytopathological Society. 67 p.

Le May, C.; Schoeny, A.; Tivoli, B.; Ney, B. 2005: Improvement and validation of a pea crop growth model to simulate the growth of cultivars infected with Ascochyta blight (*Mycosphaerella pinodes*). *European Journal of Plant Pathology 112*: 1-12.

Lecoeur, J.; Ney, B. 2003: Change with time in potential radiation-use efficiency in field pea. *European Journal of Agronomy 19*: 91-105.

Lhuillier-Soundele, A.; Munier-Jolain, N.; Ney, B. 1998: Response of seed nitrogen concentration in pea (*Pisum sativum* L.) to different source/sink ratios during seed filling. *In*: 3rd European conference on grain legumes. Opportunities for high quality, healthy and added-value crops to meet European demands. Valladolid, Spain, 14-19 November 1998.

Lhuillier-Soundele, A.; Munier-Jolain, N.G.; Ney, B. 1999: Dependence of seed nitrogen concentration on plant nitrogen availability during the seed filling in pea. *European Journal of Agronomy 11*: 157-166.

Lhuillier-Soundele, A.; Munier-Jolain, N.G.; Ney, B. 1999: Influence of nitrogen availability on seed nitrogen accumulation in pea. *Crop Science 39:* 1741.

Lucas, N.; McKenzie, B.; Gaunt, R.; Moot, D. 1998: Reduction in yield, leaf area index, and radiation interception in broadbean (*Vicia faba* L.) and field pea (*Pisum sativum* L.) by ascochyta diseases. *In*: 3rd European conference on grain legumes. Opportunities for high quality, healthy and added-value crops to meet European demands. Valladolid, Spain, 14-19 November 1998.

Marcinkowska, J. 1998: Variability of dry seed mycobiota of Pisum sativum. *Acta Mycologica 33*: 91-99.

McCullagh, P.; Nelder, J.A. 1989: Generalized linear models. London, Chapman & Hall. 511 p.

McDonald, G.K.; Dean, G. 1996: Effect of waterlogging on the severity of disease caused by *Mycosphaerella pinodes* in peas (*Pisum sativum* L.). *Australian Journal of Experimental Agriculture 36*: 219-222.

Michail, S.H.; Abd-El-Rehim, M.A.; Abo-Taleb, E.M.; Metwally, S.M. 1998: Effect of level of Ascochyta seed-borne infection on pea plants grown in cultivated and virgin soils. *Seed Science and Technology 26*: 125-130.

Moussart, A.; Tivoli, B.; Lemarchand, E.; Deneufbourg, F.; Roi, S.; Sicard, G. 1998: Role of seed infection by the Ascochyta blight pathogen of dried pea (*Mycosphaerella pinodes*) in seedling emergence, early disease development and transmission of the disease to aerial plant parts. *European Journal of Plant Pathology 104*: 93-102.

Nasir, M.; Hoppe, H.H. 1991: Studies on pathotype differentiation within *Mycosphaerella pinodes* (Berk. & Bloxam) Vestergren, a component of the Ascochyta-disease-complex of peas (*Pisum sativum* L.). *Zeitschrift fur Pflanzenkrankheiten und Pflanzenschutz 98*: 619-626.

Nasir, M.; Hoppe, H.H.; Ebrahim-Nesbat, F. 1992: The development of different pathotype groups of *Mycosphaerella pinodes* in susceptible and partially resistant pea leaves. *Plant Pathology 41*: 187-194.

Nasir, M.; Hoppe, H.H. 1997: Evaluation of varietal susceptibility in peas to *Mycosphaerella pinodes*. *Tests of Agrochemicals and Cultivars 18*: 32-33.

Nasir, M.; Hoppe, H.H. 1997: Evaluation of foliar fungicides for control of *Mycosphaerella pinodes* on peas. *Tests of Agrochemicals and Cultivars 18:* 12-13.

Nasir, M.; Hoppe, H.H. 1998: Evaluation of seed treatments to control *Mycosphaerella pinodes* on peas. *Tests of Agrochemicals and Cultivars 19:* 20-21.

Ney, B.; Wery, J. 1998: How does a grain legume crop work? A simulation model to integrate our knowledge and to solve agronomic problems. *In*: 3rd European conference on grain legumes. Opportunities for high quality, healthy and added-value crops to meet European demands, Valladolid, Spain, 14-19 November 1998.

Onfroy, C.; Tivoli, B.; Corbiere, R.; Bouznad, Z. 1999: Cultural, molecular and pathogenic variability of *Mycosphaerella pinodes* and *Phoma medicaginis* var. *pinodella* isolates from dried pea (*Pisum sativum*) in France. *Plant Pathology 48*: 218-229.

Prioul, S.; Onfroy, C.; Tivoli, B.; Baranger, A. 2003: Controlled environment assessment of partial resistance to *Mycosphaerella pinodes* in pea (*Pisum sativum* L.) seedlings. *Euphytica 131*: 121-130.

Rambert, A.; Huber, L.; Gougat, P. 1998: Laboratory study of fungal spore movement using laser doppler velocimetry. *Agricultural and Forest Meteorology 92*: 43-53.

Roche, R.; Jeuffroy, M.H.; Ney, B. 1998: A model to simulate the final number of reproductive nodes in pea (*Pisum sativum* L.). *Annals of Botany 81*: 545-555.

Roche, R.; Jeuffroy, M.H.; Ney, B. 1999: Comparison of different models predicting the date of beginning of flowering in pea (*Pisum sativum* L.). *Ecological Modelling* 118: 213-226.

Rodeva, R.; Kosturkova, G.; Georgieva, I.; Mehandjiev, A. 2001: Evaluation of pea genotypes for Ascochyta blight resistance *in vivo* and *in vitro*. *Beitrage zur Zuchtungsforschung - Bundesanstalt fur Zuchtungsforschung an Kulturpflanzen 7*: 47-51.

Roger, C.; Tivoli, B. 1996: Effect of culture medium, light and temperature on sexual and asexual reproduction of four strains of *Mycosphaerella pinodes*. *Mycological Research 100*: 304-306.

Roger, C.; Tivoli, B. 1996: Spatio-temporal development of pycnidia and perithecia and dissemination of spores of *Mycosphaerella pinodes* on pea (*Pisum sativum*). *Plant Pathology 45*: 518-528.

Roger, C.; Tivoli, B.; Lemarchand, E. 1998: Epidemiological studies of ascochyta blight (*M. pinodes*) development on pea: understanding and predicting epidemics. *In*: 3rd European conference on grain legumes. Opportunities for high quality, healthy and added-value crops to meet European demands. Valladolid, Spain, 14-19 November 1998.

Roger, C.; Tivoli, B.; Lemarchand, E. 1998: Leaf or pod spot. *Phytoma No. 509*: 32-36.

Roger, C.; Tivoli, B.; Huber, L. 1999: Effects of interrupted wet periods and different temperatures on the development of ascochyta blight caused by *Mycosphaerella pinodes* on pea (*Pisum sativum*) seedlings. *Plant Pathology 48*: 10-18.

Roger, C.; Tivoli, B.; Huber, L. 1999: Effects of temperature and moisture on disease and fruit body development of *Mycosphaerella pinodes* on pea (*Pisum sativum*). *Plant Pathology 48*: 1-9.

Sagan, M.; Ney, B.; Duc, G. 1993: Plant symbiotic mutants as a tool to analyse nitrogen nutrition and yield relationship in field-grown peas (*Pisum sativum* L.). *Plant and Soil 153*: 33-45.

Saint-Jean, S.; Chelle, M.; Huber, L. 2004: Modelling water transfer by rainsplash in a 3D canopy using Monte Carlo integration. *Agricultural and Forest Meteorology 121*: 183-196.

Sandhu, K.S.; Sharma, V.K. 1988: Survival of Ascochyta blight of peas through seed and its control. *Journal of Research, Punjab Agricultural University 25*: 53-57.

Sheridan, J.E. 1999: Cereal diseases 1998-1999. (Including pea diseases and gooseberry mildew). Disease survey and disease control in the Wairarapa, New Zealand. *In*: Mycology and Plant Pathology Report. Plant Doctors Ltd, Carterton.

Singh, P.P.; Amit, W.; Sandhu, K.S. 2003: Influence of post-inoculation diurnal conditions on development of Ascochyta blight of peas. *Indian Phytopathology 56*: 446-447.

Susuri, R.L.; Hagedorn, D.J.; Rand, R.E. 1999: Effect of air temperature, pH and nutrition on growth and sporulation of *Ascochyta pisi*. Zbornik *Biotehniske Fakultete Univerze v Ljubljani*. *Kmetijstvo*: 71-79.

Tar'an, B.; Warkentin, T.; Somers, D.J.; Miranda, D.; Vandenberg, A.; Blade, S.; Woods, S.; Bing, D.; Xue, A.; DeKoeyer, D.; Penner, G. 2003:

Quantitative trait loci for lodging resistance, plant height and partial resistance to mycosphaerella blight in field pea (*Pisum sativum* L.). *Theoretical and Applied Genetics 107*: 1482-1491.

Thomas, J.E.; Kenyon, D.M.; Biddle, A.J.; Ward, R.L. 2000: Forecasting and control of leaf and pod spot (*Mycosphaerella pinodes*) on field peas. *In*: The BCPC Conference: Pests and diseases, Volume 3. Proceedings of an international conference held at the Brighton Hilton Metropole Hotel, Brighton, UK, 13-16 November 2000.

Tivoli, B.; Beasse, C.; Lemarchand, E.; Masson, E. 1996: Effect of Ascochyta blight (*Mycosphaerella pinodes*) on yield components of single pea (*Pisum sativum*) plants under field conditions. *Annals of Applied Biology 129*: 207-216.

Tivoli, B.; Ney, B.; Jeuffroy, M.H. 1998: Towards a greater awareness of the impact of Ascochyta blight in fungicidal pea crop control. *Phytoma*: 16-20.

Tivoli, B.; Ney, B.; Jeuffroy, M.H.; Huber, L.; Roger, C. 2000: Impact of development of an epidemic of anthracnose on the functioning of a pea crop. *In*: Fonctionnement des peuplements vegetaux sous contraintes environnementales, Paris, France, 20-21 January 1998.

Trapero-Casas, A.; Kaiser, W.J. 1992: Influence of temperature, wetness period, plant age, and inoculum concentration on infection and development of Ascochyta blight of chickpea. *Phytopathology 82*: 589-596.

Vloutoglou, I.; Fitt, B.D.L.; Lucas, J.A. 1995: Survival and seed to seedling transmission of *Alternaria linicola* on linseed. *Annals of Applied Biology 127*: 33-47.

Vloutoglou, I.; Fitt, B.D.L.; Lucas, J.A. 1995: Periodicity and gradients in dispersal of *Alternaria linicola* in linseed crops. *European Journal of Plant Pathology* 101: 639-653.

Vloutoglou, I.; Fitt, B.D.L.; Lucas, J.A. 1996: Germination of *Alternaria linicola* conidia on linseed: effects of temperature, incubation time, leaf wetness and light regime. *Plant Pathology 45*: 529-539.

Vloutoglou, I.; Fitt, B.D.L.; Lucas, J.A. 1999: Infection of linseed by *Alternaria linicola*; effects of inoculum density, temperature, leaf wetness and light regime. European *Journal of Plant Pathology 105*: 585-595.

Wang, H.; Hwang, S.F.; Chang, K.F.; Turnbull, G.D.; Howard, R.J. 2000: Characterization of Ascochyta isolates and susceptibility of pea cultivars to the ascochyta disease complex in Alberta. *Plant Pathology 49*: 540-545.

Wang, H.; Hwang, S.F.; Chang, K.F.; Turnbull, G.D.; Howard, R.J. 2003: Suppression of important pea diseases by bacterial antagonists. *BioControl 48*: 447-460.

Warkentin, T.D.; Rashid, K.Y.; Xue, A.G. 1996: Fungicidal control of Ascochyta blight of field pea. *Canadian Journal of Plant Science 76*: 67-71.

Warkentin, T.D.; Xue, A.G.; McAndrew, D.W. 2000: Effect of mancozeb on the control of Mycosphaerella blight of field pea. *Canadian Journal of Plant Science 80*: 403-406.

Wroth, J.M.; Khan, T.N. 1999: Differential responses of field pea (*Pisum sativum* L.) to Ascochyta blight (*Mycosphaerella pinodes*): rating disease in the field. *Australian Journal of Agricultural Research 50*: 601-615.

Xue, A.G.; Warkentin, T.D.; Greeniaus, M.T.; Zimmer, R.C. 1996: Genotypic variability in seedborne infection of field pea by *Mycosphaerella pinodes* and its relation to foliar disease severity. *Canadian Journal of Plant Pathology 18*: 370-374.

Xue, A.G.; Warkentin, T.D.; Kenaschuk, E.O. 1997: Effects of timings of inoculation with Mycosphaerella pinodes on yield and seed infection of field pea. *Canadian Journal of Plant Science* 77: 685-689.

Xue, A.G.; Warkentin, T.D.; Gossen, B.D.; Burnett, P.A.; Vandenberg, A.; Rashid, K.Y. 1998: Pathogenic variation of western Canadian isolates of *Mycosphaerella pinodes* on selected *Pisum* genotypes. *Canadian Journal of Plant Pathology 20*: 189-193.

Xue, A.G. 2000: Effect of seed-borne *Mycosphaerella pinodes* and seed treatments on emergence, foot rot severity, and yield of field pea. *Canadian Journal of Plant Pathology 22*: 248-253.

Xue, A.G.; Warkentin, T.D. 2001: Partial resistance to *Mycosphaerella pinodes* in field pea. *Canadian Journal of Plant Science* 81: 535-540.

Xue, A.G.; Charest, J.; Davidson, C.G.; McAndrew, D.W.; Bing, D.J.; Warkentin, T.D. 2003: Response of field pea cultivars to chlorothalonil in the control of mycosphaerella blight. *Canadian Journal of Plant Science 83*: 313-318.

Zhang, J.X.; Fernando, W.G.D.; Xue, A.G. 2003: Virulence and genetic variability among isolates of *Mycosphaerella pinodes*. *Plant Disease 87*: 1376-1383.

Appendix I

Disease severity key for Ascochyta – stem score



Appendix II

Disease severity key for Ascochyta – pod score



Ascochyta of pea - pods susceptible

Appendix III

Disease severity key for Ascochyta – stipule score



Ascochyta of pea - stipule

Appendix IV

Disease severity key for Ascochyta – leaf score



Ascochyta of pea - leaf susceptible
Appendix V

Disease severity key for downy mildew



Appendix VI

Interim results from Trial 1: St Andrews

Severity and incidence of Ascochyta blight was assessed in the trial 23 December 2004 and 19 January 2005. Data from the 23 December assessment is presented here (Table 1). The irrigation and cultivation treatments had no effects on any of the disease parameters measured. The fungicide treatment did not affect mean number of nodes/plant, but at the time of the assessment, increased the mean number of pods/plant by 28%. This treatment reduced the mean number of nodes on plants with dead leaves by 25%, reduced the mean stem Ascochyta severity score by 68%, and reduced the mean pod severity score by 55%.

Treatment	Number of nodes/plant	No. nodes with dead leaves	Stem Asco score†	Number of pods/plant	Pod Asco score†
Irrigation					
Nil	21.2	11.8	6.3	9.4	2.9
Irrigated	21.4	12.2	6.4	9.4	2.9
LSD (<i>P</i> = 0.05)	0.4	1.2	0.7	0.7	1.2
Cultivation					
No deep rip	21.2	12.1	6.3	9.2	3.0
Deep ripped	21.3	11.8	6.4	9.5	2.8
LSD (<i>P</i> = 0.05)	0.9	0.6	0.6	0.9	0.4
Fungicide		(-25%)	(-68%)	(+28%)	(-55%)
Nil	21.3	13.7	9.1	8.2	4.0
Sprayed	21.3	10.3	3.6	10.5	1.8
LSD (<i>P</i> = 0.05)	0.9	0.6	0.6	0.9	0.4

Table 1: Means of plant and disease parameters for different treatments applied to plots of Midichi peas in Trial 1 (plants removed from trial plots on 23 December 2004).

† Ascochyta severity scores; 0 = no disease, 11 = >80% surface area affected

Appendix VII

Interim results from Trial 2: Ladbrooks

Plants from the November sowing had a mean number of nodes that was 26% greater than for the October sowing. Plants from the later sowing also had greater levels of Ascochyta blight than those from the October sowing. This was expressed, for the November relative to the October sowing, as 78% more nodes with dead leaves, a 42% increase in mean stem severity score, and a 36% increase in mean pod severity score.

Inoculation of plots with grain inoculum of *Mycosphaerella pinodes* increased the mean stem Ascochyta severity score by 25%, and the mean pod severity score by 230%. This treatment did not affect the numbers of nodes on plants with dead leaves, or the numbers of pods/plant.

The fungicide applications did not affect the mean number of nodes/plant or mean numbers of pods/plant. However, this treatment decreased the mean number of plants with dead leaves (-8%), the mean stem Ascochyta severity score (-46%) and the mean pod severity score (-78%).

Table 3: Means of plant parameters and Ascochyta blight assessments for different treatments applied to plots of Durango peas in Trial 2 (plants removed from plots on 7 January 2005 (Octobersowing) and 21 January 2005 (November-sowing)).

Treatment	Number of nodes/plant	No. nodes with dead leaves	Stem Asco score†	Number of pods/plant	Pod Asco score
Sowing date	(+26%)	(+78%)	(+42%)	(+36%)	(+260%)
October	13.6	6.0	4.8	5.8	0.1
November	17.1	10.7	6.8	7.9	0.3
LSD (<i>P</i> = 0.05)	0.6	0.6	1.2	0.9	0.02
Inoculation			(+25%)		(+230%)
Nil	15.2	8.1	5.2	6.7	0.1
Plus inoculum	15.5	8.5	6.5*	7.0	0.3
LSD (<i>P</i> = 0.05)	0.6	0.6	1.2	0.9	0.02
Fungicide		(-8%)	(-46%)		(-78%)
Nil	15.3	8.7	7.6	6.6	0.3
Sprayed	15.4	8.0*	4.1	7.1	0.1
LSD (<i>P</i> = 0.05)	0.6	0.6	1.2	0.9	0.02

† Ascochyta severity scores; 0 = no disease, 11 = >80% surface area affected